Prostate Cancer UK Best Practice Pathway Support pathway

Support pathway overview

This overview is to provide a take away guide that ensures men living with prostate cancer get the support they need.

The support men with prostate cancer need

What does good supportive care look like?

More men are living with prostate cancer and therefore more are living with a variety of physical and psychological side effects. Good supportive care is vital and includes interventions such Holistic Needs Assessments (HNA) and care planning, a stratified approach to follow-up, tailored rehabilitation programmes incorporating self-management. Psychological support is important and peer support should be offered. Specialist nurses and high quality patient information play a key role in the support pathway.

Managing side effects

Treatment options associated with prostate cancer, regardless of its stage, will carry significant physical, sexual and emotional side-effects, which may be life-long and impact on day to day living. In turn, this can cause a reduction in quality of life. Men and their families must therefore be supported in being able to cope and live with these side effects and symptoms. Best practice includes access to information, decision making support, multi-disciplinary support and options for self-management of symptoms including making diet and lifestyle changes.

Specific support needs

Sexual problems

Prostate cancer treatments commonly cause erectile dysfunction, infertility, psychosexual dysfunction and specific issues such as and climacturia (leaking urine on orgasm). A recent consensus recommends early ED rehabilitation and treatments include a medical approach, conservative management alongside access to psychosexual support and couples therapy.

Urinary dysfunction

Up to 97% of men treated for prostate cancer report lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS). Detailed assessment is important as nature of the problems can vary and include incontinence, radiation cystitis and urinary retention. Management approaches include non-surgical interventions such as pelvic floor muscle exercises, bladder retraining, external collection devices for men who leak urine, lifestyle changes as well as pharmacological treatment and in some cases different surgical options.

Pelvic radiotherapy side effects

Radiotherapy to the pelvis to treat prostate cancer also damages normal tissues in that region causing acute and chronic side effects including: skin/hair changes, urinary dysfunction, sexual dysfunction and fatigue, gastrointestinal (GI) problems, lymphoedema, hip /bone problems and second cancer. GI problems require basic assessment, basic advice and treatment and in some cases further referral to specialists for investigation and specific treatment. Some dietary modifications may be helpful.

Fatigue

Up to 74% of men with prostate cancer report fatigue. It can have a debilitating effect on every day life and is linked with psychological dysfunction. Management through exercise, dietary changes and psychological support may help. Prostate Cancer UK provide a telephone based support service for men dealing with fatigue that helps reduce overall fatigue levels.

Support for men dealing with the side effects of hormone therapy

Hormone therapy decreases testosterone levels, and has an extensive side-effect profile, the main ones being hot flushes, changes to sexual function, fatigue, weight gain, strength and muscle loss, breast swelling and tenderness, osteoporosis, mood changes, risk of heart disease, stroke and diabetes. Intermittent hormone therapy may play a role in management of these side effects.

Generally, physical activity and psychosocial support are important for men on hormone therapy, as is specific treatment for each side effect.

Bone health

Osteoporosis is common in older men and may also develop or worse as a result of hormone therapy. Fracture risk assessment is important and treatment includes medication such as bisphosphonates, lifestyle changes and offering support to maintain quality of life. Bone metastases are common in men with castrate resistant prostate cancer and treatment includes radiotherapy (EBRT or radioisotopes), less commonly surgery. Men may analgesics as well as self-management strategies to deal with pain.

Support for men with advanced metastatic prostate cancer

30 % of men with advanced metastatic prostate cancer may live for five years, these men are also living with symptoms of the spread of the disease, as well as consequences of previous or current treatment. These include lymphoedema, anaemia, hypercalcaemia, eating problems, lowed GI problems and obstructive uropathy. These need appropriately tailored management, as well as referal to palliative care team to address psychosocial issues associated with coping with advanced stage disease.

Support for men at the end of life

As well as effective management of symptoms and access to palliative care services, following national guidance/models men with prostate cancer may have specific support and information needs. These include information to enable practical and emotional preparation and planning plus support for psychological issues for them and their loved ones (extending into the bereavement phase).

Contents

Support pathway overview	2
Prostate Cancer UK Best Practice Pathway	7
Stage 3: Support pathway	7
What does good supportive care look like?	7
Stratified follow-up pathways	8
Rehabilitation	9
Access to specialist nurses	9
Access to information	9
Psychosocial support	10
3.1 Managing side effects	11
General side effect management principles	12
Information and decision making support	12
A holistic approach	12
Multi-disciplinary care	12
Self-management	12
Physical activity	13
Diet and lifestyle	13
3.2 Sexual problems	14
Assessing sexual problems	14
Erectile dysfunction	15
External beam radiotherapy (EBRT) and brachytherapy	15
Treating ED	16
Psychosexual issues	17
Psychosexual therapy/counselling	17
Fertility	17
Climacturia	18
Other sexual problems	18
Case study - Psychosexual therapy, Prostate Cancer UK and Relate	19
3.3 Urinary dysfunction	19
Assessment or urinary dysfunction in general	20
Urinary incontinence	20
Managing incontinence	21
Radiation cystitis	23
Management	23
Overactive bladder (frequency, urgency and nocturia)	24
Management	24

Urinary retention	25
Management	25
3.4 Pelvic radiotherapy side effects	26
Common side effects	26
Effects on the skin and hair	27
Urinary problems	27
Fatigue	27
Sexual and fertility problems	27
Gastrointestinal problems	28
Rectal bleeding	30
Lymphoedema	30
Hip and bone problems	30
Second cancers	30
Specific support and information needs for men receiving brachytherapy	30
3.5 Fatigue	32
The impact of fatigue on physical and emotional wellbeing	32
Managing fatigue	32
Specialist telephone intervention – case study	33
Resources	34
3.6 Support for men dealing with the side effects of hormone therapy	35
Support for men	36
Side effects of hormone therapy	36
Hot flushes	37
Sexual dysfunction	37
Osteoporosis	37
Gynaecomastia	37
Fatigue	38
Weight gain / strength and muscle loss	38
Metabolic and cardiovascular effects	38
Cognitive effects	38
3.7 Bone health	40
Osteoporosis	40
Management	40
Bone metastases	41
Management	41
3.8 Support for men with advanced metastatic prostate cancer	43
Symptoms of advanced prostate cancer:	44

Lymphoedema	44
Anaemia	44
Hypercalcaemia	45
Eating problems	
Lower gastrointestinal problems	
Obstructive uropathy	
3.9 Support for men at the end of life	
Specific needs:	
Useful resources:	
References	56

Prostate Cancer UK Best Practice Pathway

Stage 3: Support pathway

Prostate cancer survival is improving and has tripled in the last 40 years in the UK.¹ In the 1970s, a quarter of men diagnosed with prostate cancer survived their disease beyond ten years, now it's more than 8 in 10.¹

More men are living with and after prostate cancer, which means that more men are living with a variety of supportive care needs. These needs may be caused by the physical and psychological side effects of their treatment, as well as the broader impact of the diagnosis on the emotional, practical and social aspects of their lives.^{2–5} Additionally, 60% of men with prostate cancer are living with other health conditions.⁶ As well as assessing health status prior to starting treatment,^{7,8} using approaches to care planning that focus on the entire well-being of a man with prostate cancer should help address these multi-factorial needs (see Holistic Needs Assessment below).⁸

Better support for people after cancer treatment can improve quality of life, and promotes behaviours that may prevent recurrence or complications resulting from the unmanaged consequences of treatments.^{7,9}

Good support can also equip people and their families with self-management skills. For example self-management interventions have been assessed in survivors and found to improve urinary symptoms with positive results. ¹⁰ Interventions focused on coping skills, diet and exercise can improve quality of life for men with prostate cancer. ^{11–13}

What does good supportive care look like?

The National Cancer Survivorship Initiative was created in order to 'better understand the needs of those living with cancer and develop models of care that meet their needs.' This involved a key cultural shift in the approach to care and support for people affected by cancer with a 'greater focus on recovery, health and well-being after cancer treatment.' 15,16

Support for men with prostate cancer should cover the key generic recommendations that came out of the NCSI. These have been translated by Macmillan Cancer Support into a set of essential interventions known as 'The Recovery Package' including:

- Holistic Needs Assessment (HNA) and care planning. An HNA is a simple questionnaire completed by a person affected by cancer covering physical, practical, emotional and spiritual needs. This then informs the development of a care and support plan, which is undertaken with their nurse or key worker. Evidence has shown that individual Holistic Needs Assessment (HNA) and effective care and support planning can contribute to better identification of an individual's needs and concerns. It also enables early intervention and diagnosis of side effects or consequences of treatment.¹⁷ Every man with prostate cancer referred back to community services should have their HNA reviewed on a regular basis.
- A Treatment Summary (TS) is a document (or record) completed by secondary care

professionals, usually the multi-disciplinary team (MDT) at the end of, or after, a significant phase of a patient's cancer treatment. It describes the treatment, potential side effects, and signs and symptoms of recurrence. It is designed to be shared with the person after finishing or during ongoing cancer treatment and to inform the GP and other primary care professionals of actions that need to be taken and who to contact with any questions or concerns. The patient also receives a copy to improve their understanding of treatment effects and to know if there is anything to look out for during and after their recovery.

- Health and wellbeing events are designed to help people affected by cancer, their family and friends get the support they need during and after treatment. They provide information and support on finance, employment, diet, exercise and ways to manage side effects. Evidence has shown that patients who attended an event have increased knowledge, confidence and reassurance.¹⁵ Health and Wellbeing Events can help provide better patient outcomes and reduce unplanned admissions to hospital.¹⁵
- A Cancer care review (CCR) is a discussion between a patient and their GP or practice nurse about their cancer journey. It helps the person affected by cancer to understand what information and support is available to them in their local area, talk about their cancer experience and enable supported self-management. The Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) requires all general practitioners (GPs) to carry out a CCR with a patient within six months of receiving notification of a diagnosis.¹⁵

Stratified follow-up pathways

More tailored after-care has the potential to reduce costs through better management of side-effects, improved patient satisfaction and by supporting people to live well. Throughout the course of their disease, there should be mechanisms in place to ensure that men with prostate cancer and their primary care providers have access to appropriate specialist services.

Stratification should be related to stage of disease. Men at low risk of prostate cancer recurrence and physical and psychosocial late effects should be encouraged towards supported self-management, those at medium risk should receive planned coordinated care and those at high risk should receive complex care from specialist services. This must include a system for rapid re-entry to the specialist cancer service as required. NHS Improvement (2013) produced the document Stratified Pathways of Care: How to Guide which has more information.

Follow-up in the community

After at least 2 years, NICE guidance advises that for men with a stable PSA who have had no significant treatment complications, follow-up can be offered outside of a hospital setting by telephone or secure electronic communications (unless they are taking part in a clinical trial that requires formal clinic-based follow-up). Direct access to the urological cancer MDT should be offered..

For men with localised disease, the definition of biochemical relapse differs depending upon the treatment received. ¹⁸ Therefore the urology cancer MDT should provide letters to community services that set out individual PSA parameters for referral back to specialist care.

For all men with prostate cancer, it's recommended that locally commissioned follow-up services should include the following as a minimum,⁹ (in addition to what is in the Recovery Package):

• Potential markers of recurrence/ secondary cancers and information on what to do in these circumstances.

• Key contact point for rapid re-entry if recurrence markers are experienced or if serious side effects become apparent.

The following is a well evidenced example that could be adopted:

Prostate Cancer UK has worked with The Christie in Manchester to establish a role for Clinical Nurse Specialists working between primary and specialist care. Men on routine follow-up after prostate cancer treatment are moved into community based prostate cancer follow-up clinics. These are run by a nurse specialist with expert clinical skills, experience in managing this group of men, and who is competent at assessing and dealing with symptoms of late effects. Positive outcome data and patient satisfaction demonstrated the safety of transferring care out of the hospital earlier, and cost savings are anticipated.

Rehabilitation

Men should have access to adequate and appropriate rehabilitation to support their individual needs throughout the whole cancer pathway.¹⁹

Support should also be tailored to the specific needs of men with prostate cancer such as fatigue, erectile dysfunction, urinary continence, psychological issues and other more generic side effects of cancer,^{9,20} all of which are covered in more detail in this best practice pathway.

Self-management and support programmes can be tailored to men with similar needs, for example they can be focused on a specific side effect such as urinary dysfunction. However, it is also important to consider that needs vary in terms of the treatment men have received, their economic status, social support and ethnicity. These factors should also be taken into account explicitly in developing, targeting and evaluating programmes. 4

Case study: <u>Creating an effective prostate cancer survivorship programme</u> Case study: Supported self-management for prostate cancer patients

Access to specialist nurses

Men should have access to a specialist nurse or dedicated urology key worker, as this has a significant influence on outcomes for men with prostate cancer¹⁵ and has a positive impact on patient experience and outcomes.²²

Nursing support can improve key areas of care, for example support for sexual dysfunction, psychological care, provision of information, and the management of symptoms and long-term side effects. 17

Access to information

All men with prostate cancer should be given information and advice on the likelihood t of experiencing potential consequences of treatment or late effects and the management of these. ¹⁹ This includes information highlighting "red flag" symptoms that need urgent care, such as metastatic spinal cord compression (MSCC).

Having access to high quality information can improve health and wellbeing and contributes to clinical effectiveness and safety as well as improving patient experience.²³ This is as a core part of patient care and should be personalised and delivered as standard. Information should be accompanied by appropriate support structures to ensure it can be used effectively.²⁴

Prostate Cancer UK produce award-winning information for men with prostate cancer and their families. Our information is <u>certified by the Information Standard</u> as being accurate, impartial, balanced, evidence-based, accessible and well-written. All our information is available to <u>read online</u> and to <u>order free of charge</u> for patients.

Men can also be referred to the interactive 'How to manage' guides that provide information on managing the side effects of prostate cancer and its treatment. The guides give men the tools to help men take control. They can watch films of real life stories, read tips from those who have been through similar experiences and learn new ways to manage their symptoms and side effects.

Psychosocial support

A diagnosis of cancer inevitably has psychological consequences 25 and the psychosocial burden of prostate cancer is well documented. 4,26 A meta-analysis found that the pre-treatment prevalence of depression and anxiety across studies was 17.3% and 27.0% respectively and post-treatment was 18.4% and 18.5%. 26

Under NICE guidance, men with prostate cancer and their carers should have their psychological well-being assessed at key points in the patient pathway²⁷ (e.g. as part of the Holistic Needs Assessment). All staff directly responsible for patient care should offer men general emotional support based on skilled communication, effective provision of information, courtesy and respect.²⁸ Men and their carers found to have significant levels of psychological distress should be offered prompt referral to services able to provide specialist psychological care.²⁸

Men with prostate cancer who have depression should be offered medication and psychological treatment. Specifically, it's currently recommended that NHS England should consider piloting, through new or existing vanguard sites, the commissioning of integrated evidence-based depression care that includes screening and treatment systems. For example, a recent large randomised trial tested a systematic collaborative care model, "Depression Care for People with Cancer" (DCPC), which is a team-delivered system of care in which a psychiatrist supervises specially trained cancer nurses who see the patient and work in collaboration with primary care to deliver and monitor treatment. DCPC substantially reduced depression and improved quality of life when compared with usual care. The provided that NHS England should consider piloting, the commissioning of integrated evidence-based depression care that includes screening and treatment systems. The provided results are considered to the compared with usual care.

Other possible relevant psychosocial interventions for men with prostate cancer and their partners include group cognitive-behavioural and psychoeducational interventions. A systematic review concluded that these were helpful in promoting better psychological adjustment and quality of life (QOL) for men with prostate cancer and that coping skills training for couples improved QOL for partners.²⁹

Men with prostate cancer should have access to peer support. Men have reported that peer support helps by providing a source of useful information and advice about their cancer; helping them understand their condition, feel less alone and more in control of their life; providing the opportunity to talk about their concerns; and helping reduce feelings of self-blame. Men with prostate cancer have described a preference for having access to peer support as close as possible to the time of diagnosis. Many hospitals now offer access to peer support groups during and after therapy has been completed, additionally men can be referred to Prostate Cancer UK's one-to-one support service if appropriate.

"I greatly benefitted from speaking to the volunteers. It was helpful to hear their personal experience as it was directly related to my situation. I feel better informed about what to expect, because they have actually been through the treatments themselves and know what it's like."

Experience of man accessing the Prostate Cancer UK one-to-one support service

3.1 Managing side effects

Treatment options associated with prostate cancer, regardless of its stage, will carry significant physical, sexual and emotional side-effects, which may be life-long and impact on day to day living. In turn, this can cause a reduction in quality of life.³² Men and their families must therefore be supported in being able to cope and live with these side effects and symptoms.

This may involve measures to 'treat' the side effects and symptoms, but should also involve information and advice on how to 'manage' them and make adjustments to lifestyle. It may also involve psychosocial support such as counselling, or financial support.³³ Men should be informed of the health and social services available to them and encouraged to access them as suits their individual needs.

The side effects of each treatment modality are described in the **Treatment pathway.** In this section common side effects are covered in more detail in the context of recommended support and management strategies.

All men will experience side effects differently, and prevalence rates vary depending on treatment type, age and the previous health and well-being of the individual.³⁴ However, some key statistics from PCUK's 2012 survey of men receiving treatment for prostate cancer are:*

- **68% of men reported urinary incontinence.** ³⁵ This has a major negative effect on quality of life in terms of mental and physical health, and social interactions. ^{32,36–41} Often, it can be associated with long term conditions like skin irritation and skin breakdown, urinary tract infection, falls, and increased hospital stays. ²⁸
- 67% of men reported fatigue.³⁵ All treatment types caused fatigue, albeit to different extents. Men who received combined radiotherapy and hormone therapy treatments were most at risk of chronic fatigue.⁴²
- 76% of men reported erectile dysfunction.³⁵ More than half of these men said their erectile dysfunction had a negative impact on how they felt about themselves, citing depression, sadness, inadequacy, low self-esteem and loss of masculinity. 47% said that erectile dysfunction had negatively affected their relationship.⁴³

Side-effects specific to advanced prostate cancer

* Breakdown of treatments received in this survey is as follows: active surveillance 10%, brachytherapy 24 %, chemotherapy 21%, cryotherapy 1%, HIFU 4 %, hormone therapy 26%, Other 4 %, radiotherapy 43 %, surgery 35 %, watchful waiting 10 %.

Men whose disease is not curative have specific side effects from treatments, symptoms of advancing disease and different psychosocial support needs relating to disease progression that need to be addressed. Therefore these are covered in a specific section of the support pathway. Information highlighting "red flag" symptoms of metastatic spinal cord compression (MSCC) should be made available to all men.

General side effect management principles

Information and decision making support

NICE recommends that men with prostate cancer and their partners or carers should be well informed about the effects of prostate cancer and the varying impacts that treatment options can have on their sexual function, physical appearance, continence and other aspects of masculinity. ¹⁸ Information should also cover how best to manage these side effects, including those that might appear after some months/years. ⁹

A holistic approach

Side effects or late adverse effects of treatment can manifest systemically and have a major influence on the patient's quality of life (QoL).⁴⁴

Therefore holistic care should consider physical, mental and social issues – for example relationships, work/vocation, as these all have a bearing on perception of quality of life.⁴⁶ Psychosocial care and needs of carers and partners should also be considered as part of clinical care.⁴⁷

Multi-disciplinary care

Holistic care requires the intervention of a multi-disciplinary team.⁴⁴ Men with prostate cancer should receive care from a multi-disciplinary team (MDT). Collaboration between MDT members (see table below) is central to the treatment and support, with ongoing support from the wider team to manage pain and the adverse effects of therapy.

Urological surgeons	Oncology and urology nurse specialists
Clinical and medical oncologists	Palliative care specialist
MDT co-ordinator and secretarial support	Histopathologists
Radiologists	

This should be implemented in line with the stratified pathways of care described in the introduction to this document.

Refer to MDT Guidance for Managing Prostate Cancer (British Uro-oncology Group (BUG) in partnership with the British Association of Urological Surgeons (BAUS) Section of Oncology).

Self-management

As described in the introduction, some men with prostate cancer can be encouraged to self-manage side effects and symptoms. Promoting self-management can help to reduce the burden on the health service, allows direct professional intervention to be focused on those in most need, and for men who are able to self-manage, it helps to promote a sense of wellbeing and control as they transition into this survivorship phase.³³ It is important to note that self-management doesn't mean a lack of care; just a different, more personalised means of support, tailored to individual need.³⁰

Effective self-management still requires the patient to have access to relevant information and self-management programmes.

Physical activity

Advice on diet, exercise and lifestyle should inform part of a side effects management approach.

In general there is growing evidence to support the role of physical activity during and after cancer treatment, amongst other things to help with management of some of the side effects of prostate cancer treatment^{48–52} and help with feelings of anxiety or depression.⁵³

For cancer survivors generally:54

Physical activity improves, or prevents the decline of, physical function without increasing fatigue

- physical activity helps recover physical function after cancer treatment
- physical activity can reduce the risk of cancer recurrence and mortality for some cancers and can reduce the risk of developing other long term conditions.

Men should aim to be physically active at least two to three times a week⁵⁵ and be advised to start gently for short periods of time, such as 10 to 15 minutes, before gradually increasing the amount as they become fitter. If possible, they should aim to build up to 30 minutes of moderate exercise three to five days a week.⁵⁶

- Following an exercise programme such as walking 10,000 steps a day can be useful. Further
 information is available via NHS Choices website and Walking for Health offers men a way to
 find local walking schemes
- Gentle resistance exercise, such as lifting light weights or using elastic resistance bands, are
 particularly good for men on hormonal therapy and at risk of bone thinning.^{55,57} Men on
 hormonal therapy and/or with bone metastases should check with their specialist team
 before doing high-impact exercises such as running or contact sports.

Diet and lifestyle

Dietary and lifestyle advice should form part of effective side effect management as staying a healthy weight can help manage or reduce some of the side effects of treatments, such as urinary problems after surgery. 49,55,58 Men of a healthy weight are more likely to find medical treatments for ED effective 59 and some dietary modifications may help with gastro-intestinal side effects such as diarrhoea. $^{60-62}$

Men should be supported in smoking cessation as smoking may increase the risk of prostate cancer spreading⁶³ and recurring after surgery or radiotherapy.^{63,64} Smoking cessation can also help with reduction of treatment side effects, such as urinary problems after radiotherapy⁶⁵ and decreases the risk of osteoporosis.⁶⁶

Men can be referred to Prostate Cancer UK's information on diet and physical activity.

3.2 Sexual problems

Psychosexual concerns are the most significant problem encountered by survivors of prostate cancer.⁶⁵

Seventy-eight per cent of men with treatment-induced erectile dysfunction, told us they found - or continue to find - it 'difficult' or 'very difficult' to deal with. More than half of these men said their erectile dysfunction had a negative impact on how they felt about themselves, citing depression, sadness, inadequacy, low self-esteem and loss of masculinity. Forty-seven per cent said that erectile dysfunction had negatively affected their relationship.⁴³

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) recommends that men and their partners are given the opportunity to discuss psychosexual problems before and after treatment. Yet it may be difficult for men to raise sexuality-related issues with health professionals due to embarrassment, stigma and feelings about masculinity. Additionally, the loss of sexual function may only become important years after treatment when the threat to survival passes, at which point men may feel that they have lost the opportunity to seek support. France of the survival passes of the survival passes of the opportunity to seek support.

Equally, clinicians may feel that there are barriers to opening up discussion of sexual concerns with their patients, such as issues to do with sensitivity, complexity and constraints of time and expertise. ⁷⁰ It's important to develop some effective ways to raise these issues with patients, as clinicians who are responsive to patients' sexual health needs by delivering medical information or by acknowledging patients' concerns, may help alleviate the burden of sexual side effects. ⁷¹ It is also vital that health professionals ask specific questions about sexual orientation and sexual practice in order to empower all patients, including men who have sex with men and transgender women, to make fully informed decisions about their treatment and how to manage sexual dysfunction. ⁷²

As well as having access to high quality information about sexual side effects before and after treatment, 73,74 men and their partners should have access to additional psychological therapy 75 and peer support. For example, support groups allow men the space to be more open about their psychosexual concerns. 76,77

Management of patients should take a tailored individual psychosexual approach.^{78–80} Consultation should include a discussion of the expectations and needs of both the patient and his sexual partner, if available.^{59,81} It should also review both the patient's and partner's understanding of sexual problems, and provide a selection of treatment options.⁸¹ Patient and partner education is an essential part of management.^{59,81}

Assessing sexual problems

As it may take time for sexual problems to manifest and for men to place importance on them, assessment of psychosexual needs should take place throughout the follow-up period, and not only at the time of initial treatment. GPs could play an important ongoing role in assessing wider psychosexual needs and signposting where to get help when needed.⁶⁷

The assessment should include:

- Initial assessment of the patient and their partner's sexual function, 82 including full sexual, medical, psychiatric and surgical histories. 83
- Exploring comorbidities, concurrent medication and lifestyle habits.82

- Validated questionnaires, particularly the International Index of Erectile Function (IIEF)⁸⁴ or the validated shorter version of the SHIM (Sexual Health Inventory for Men)(or IIEF-5) may be helpful.⁸³ The erection hardness score (EHS) can also be helpful in discussing erections.⁸³
- A physical examination and laboratory testing, which will depend on the individual patient (for example serum lipids, fasting plasma glucose, and HbA1C, PSA and testosterone levels).⁸³
- Assessment of psychological factors (sexual self-esteem/confidence), relationship issues and any social factors that could impact on sexuality or that are affected by sexual dysfunction.⁵⁹ It is also important to consider the potentially varied needs of men who have sex with men, transgender women and single men.⁷² [See <u>online learning module on sex, relationships and</u> prostate cancer for further resources]

Erectile dysfunction

Erectile dysfunction (ED) is defined as the persistent inability to attain and maintain an erection sufficient to permit satisfactory sexual performance.⁸¹

Erectile function depends on intact vascular and nervous supply to the penis, normal anatomy, normal hormonal response and psychological factors. Disruption to any of these systems can result in ED.^{81,85}

ED is common in the general population with rates ranging from 10-52% depending on the study (rates rising with age).⁸¹ As well as prostate cancer and its treatment, there may be a variety of other factors that increase men's risk of ED, including vasculogenic, central/peripheral neurogenic, anatomical/structural, drug-induced, psychogenic, trauma or hormonal causes. (See the European Association of Urology Guidelines on Male Sexual Dysfunction for a detailed list). Older men may be more at risk of ED, as other ED related health problems such as hypertension and type two diabetes increase with age, as do lower urinary tract symptoms (with or without prostate cancer).⁸⁶

Advanced prostate cancer can cause ED through infiltration of the neurovascular bundles which supply the penis. ED can also be a side effect of treatments for prostate cancer.⁸¹

Prostate cancer treatments that cause ED:

Radical prostatectomy

- ED is a result of damage to the neurovascular bundles which supply the penis during surgery.⁸¹ Erectile dysfunction used to occur in nearly all patients, but this can be avoided by using nerve-sparing techniques in early-stage disease. Impotence after RP: 29-100%.⁴⁹
- ED is less likely if the man has had nerve sparing surgery, although it can often take up to 2-3
 years for some spontaneous erectile function to return, most men will need to have
 treatment in order to regain function.⁸⁷
- Erectile function is also more likely to be retained in younger men who did not have erectile problems before surgery.⁸⁸

External beam radiotherapy (EBRT) and brachytherapy

- ED is due to damage to the corpus cavernosa and the nerves and blood vessels that supply the penis. 86 In EBRT and low dose rate brachytherapy, ED develops in about 40% of the patients after 3-5 years. 49,89 However, the frequency of erectile dysfunction is significantly increased with HDR brachytherapy (86% vs. 34%). 49,89
- The impact is not immediate, and occurs more slowly than after radical prostatectomy.⁸¹

Hormone therapy

- ED affects up to 85% of men receiving hormone therapy through inducing a hypogonadic state, and can contribute to reduced libido as well as ED. 81,82
- The effect can be delayed, or progressive over a number of years.81
- Hormone therapy has a particularly detrimental effect on erectile function when combined with radiotherapy and post-treatment potency may be worse than with radiotherapy alone.⁹⁰

Other treatments

There have been fewer studies looking at side effects of treatments such as cryotherapy and high-intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU). But both can cause ED.⁸¹ For cryotherapy, ED is reported to occur in about 80% of patients, ^{45,89} whereas for HIFU, ostoperative impotence occurs in 55-70% of patients. ^{45,89}

Treating ED

Men whose prostate cancer treatment may cause erectile dysfunction should have early access to specialist erectile dysfunction services for assessment and treatment. A UK-wide consensus published in the International Journal of Clinical Practice in 2014 recommends early ED rehabilitation as it can improve blood flow to the penis and reduce cavernous tissue damage, thereby preventing penile atrophy.⁵⁹ This may help improve long term erectile function and an earlier return of assisted or unassisted erections sufficient for intercourse - in both men after surgery and in men who have had radiotherapy and/or hormone therapy.⁵⁹

This may involve first-line treatment with combination therapy, usually daily low dose PDE5-I tablets and vacuum erection device (VED).^{59,82} If initial treatment fails, offer alprostadil pellets, injections or topical alprostadil, with penile implants indicated as a third-line treatment.⁸²

In general, treatment options depend on the causes of sexual problems; for example, slightly different pathways are recommended for men who have ED related to hormone therapy or radiotherapy and for men who are recovering after radical prostatectomy. This may vary again depending on whether they've had nerve sparing surgery or not.⁵⁹

Read more:

- Treating erectile dysfunction after radical radiotherapy and androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) for prostate cancer. A quick guide for health professionals: supporting men with erectile dysfunction
- Treating erectile dysfunction after surgery for pelvic cancers A quick guide for health professionals: supporting men with erectile dysfunction

Medical treatments

- PDE5-1 Tablets (sildenafil, tadalafil, vardenafil and avanafil)
- Vacuum erection device (VED)
- Pellets (transurethral alprostadil)
- Penile injections (ICI)
- Topical cream (transdermal alprostadil)

Conservative management

• Fitness is central to erectile function, 91 and men of a healthy weight are more likely to find

medical treatments for ED effective. So exercise programmes and lifestyle changes should also be offered and supported.⁵⁹

 <u>Pelvic floor muscle exercises</u> offer a no cost, non-invasive option that may help give men a sense of control over their symptoms.⁹² But there is no published evidence of benefit when used alone as an ED management strategy.^{59,82}

Psychosexual issues

Psychosexual concerns are the most significant problem encountered by survivors of prostate cancer.⁹³ Psychosexual concerns may not develop straight away⁹⁴ and may persist for a number of years,⁹⁵ even after men have returned to their baseline level of sexual function.⁹⁶ Such concerns involve psychological, emotional and physical factors⁹⁷ and include issues such as:

- Dissatisfaction with sexual intercourse. 98,99
- Decreased libido 100 and sexual desire. 101,102
- Changes to a man's sense of masculinity, identity, self-esteem and his quality of life. 44,46,59,103
- Impact on relationships.^{81,85}

Changes in sexual function for the patient can also affect their partner and intimate relationships.⁷² Partners should be involved in any assessment, treatment planning for sexual problems and couples therapy or counselling.⁷² In addition, partners may report increased levels of anxiety, depression and relationship dissatisfaction and may need further support.^{104–106}

In particular, the psychosexual impact of hormone therapy on a man and his intimate partner can be profound and complex, for some it can mean an end to their sex life. However, psychosexual effects may be mitigated when the man and his partner are well-informed about the effects of treatment before it begins and given access to psychosexual counselling. However, psychosexual counselling.

Watch men's personal stories of sex after prostate cancer.

Psychosexual therapy/counselling

Psychosexual counselling and couples therapy may be beneficial.^{75,109–111} They are important in improving outcomes of sexual rehabilitation programmes, improving acceptance of, and adherence to, treatments, reducing feelings of a lack of sexual spontaneity and dissatisfaction, and dealing with a fear of needles. They can help when other treatment strategies are unsuccessful and assist couples to overcome distress and strengthen their relationship.^{59,82}

NICE recommend that **all** men with prostate cancer and their partners or carers are given the opportunity to talk to a healthcare professional experienced in dealing with psychosexual issues at any stage of the illness and its treatment. All Trusts in England have sexual function services and specialist continence services available, and most have psychological support services, ¹¹² but NICE acknowledge concerns about current variable access to psychosexual counselling and recommend a particular focus on referring men being treated with long term androgen suppression and their partners for psychosexual counselling.

Fertility

All the management options for prostate cancer (except active surveillance) harm men's fertility. 113 Brachytherapy may be less harmful than EBRT and surgery. 113 Health professionals should cover

infertility when discussing the pros and cons of various prostate cancer therapies with patients. ¹¹³ It should be recognised that the prospect of infertility can be psychologically and socially damaging but that such an outcome can, to some extent, be mitigated by sperm storage prior to treatment. ¹¹⁴

Climacturia

After surgery, 3% to 19% of men may leak a small amount of urine on orgasm (climacturia or orgasm associated incontinence). They should be reassured that, although shocking, urine is germ-free and safe.

If it bothers them they could try:

- urinating before sex
- wearing a condom
- having sex in the shower, on a towel, or keeping towels or tissues nearby.

They could also try urinating before sex, then waiting a few seconds and using their fingertips to press gently behind the scrotum. They might also find moving their fingers forward towards the base of the penis under the scrotum and pressing gently useful. This should push the urine further along the urethra. They can then shake the last few drops out in the normal way.

Pelvic floor muscle exercises may also help. 116

Refer men to Prostate Cancer UK's <u>video</u> featuring psychosexual therapist Lorraine Grover talking about practical steps they can take to deal with climacturia.

Other sexual problems

Prostate cancer treatment can cause other sexual problems such as changes to orgasms, changes to ejaculation, genital / pelvic pain, and changes in penis size.^{81,85,87} Men can find more information and support on these in Prostate Cancer UK's <u>How to manage guides</u>.

Case study – Psychosexual therapy, Prostate Cancer UK and Relate

The team

Prostate Cancer UK worked with Relate to identify ways in which counselling could support men and their partners to deal with these, or similar, issues in a project funded by The Movember Foundation.

Our solution

Relate counselling services are appropriate for any family member when life events have a negative impact on relationships. Prostate Cancer UK trained Relate counsellors to deliver prostate cancer specific support and counselling. Relate offered men and their loved ones up to 10 sessions of psychosexual therapy or relationship counseiling at their local branch. Men could either be referred to the service by a health professional or self-refer via an easy and cessible referral mechanism.

Depression scale to measure improvement and changes in clients using the counselling service. The client answers a set of 14 questions at their first session, and the same 14 at their final session Statements are then given a score of 1-4 with 4 being a high indicator for either anxiety or depression

The results

This service had a significant impact for men and

- 73 per cent reported a reduction in their
- 73 per cent reported improved acceptance of
- 73 per cent reported improved ability to manage
- expectations 80 per cent reported improvements in their
- relationships after the sessions
 90 per cent reported improved satisfaction with
- their sexual function.



I now understand more about myself and how I am in a relationship. I feel more in control of my sexual difficulties and can prioritise what I want in a relationship moving forward.



After the first session I felt more relaxed. and when I went home I went through everything with my wife and later, after further sessions, the family. It made a real difference. I'm still worried, but not as much, I realised I had lots of support around me. I would recommend anyone in my situation to seek some counselling, it helped me and my family.

Next steps

Following the success of this partnership in Greater Manchester, Prostate Cancer UK funded a further 16 Relate services across England, Wales and Northern Ireland with support from The Movember Foundation
We also developed an online Livechat service with
Relate, offering 1:1 support via a web link. The service has delivered over 1,600 counselling sessions to those affected by a prostate cancer diagnosis and has provided Relate with a model for supporting men around cancer in the future.

*Macmillan paper (conducted by Opinion Leader Research) April 2006 p16. Worried Sick - the Emotional Impact of Cancer.

3.3 Urinary dysfunction

Treatment for prostate cancer can cause urinary dysfunction; most commonly this is incontinence. Other symptoms include frequency, urgency, urinary retention and pain all of which affect a man's quality of life during and after treatment.

In the general population moderate-to-severe lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS) are present in about 30% of men over 50. 117 However, a UK survey undertaken in 2008 and involving 741 men, found that 97% of men treated for prostate cancer reported lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS) of frequency, nocturia, urgency and dysuria.² Over half of these men reported their symptoms as moderate to severe.2

Stigma is still associated with urinary dysfunction, especially incontinence. ¹⁰ Urinary dysfunction may cause embarrassment, isolation or stress for men, and can have an impact on their independence, work, social and sex lives. 118 Psychological distress may be linked with increased urinary symptoms. 2

Men with urinary dysfunction should have access to specialist continence services and be offered treatment and care that takes into account their individual needs and preferences. 117 It's important that they are able to make informed decisions about the management of symptoms in partnership with their healthcare professionals. 117

As well as offering information and support, emotional distress may be decreased by encouraging self-management of urinary symptoms. For example, provision of a self-management intervention based on cognitive and behavioural approaches can reduce urinary symptoms and improve HRQL, enhancing men's ability to cope more effectively with enduring effects of prostate cancer and its treatment.¹⁰

Assessment of urinary dysfunction in general

A 2015 integrative review of the non-invasive management of LUTS in men who've had treatment for pelvic cancer aimed at non-specialist clinicians and supported by Macmillan Cancer Support recommends:¹¹⁹

- General assessment including self-reported incontinence.
- Use of one of the validated questionnaires, e.g. IPSS, ICIQ-LUTS QoL for QoL; ICIQ UI for incontinence and ICIQ OAB for storage LUTS symptoms to complement self-reported continence.
- Writing a 3–7 day bladder diary
- Considering pad usage
- Dipstick urinalysis for leucocytes and nitrites to rule out infection.
- Dipstick analysis for haematuria.

Additional actions could include:

- Bladder ultrasound for identifying residual and structural issues.
- Flow rate and measurement of urodynamics (usually available through community Continence nurse services).
- Considering and evaluating sexual side effects in tandem, as treatment for urinary problems may impact on sexual function.¹²⁰

As urinary symptoms can develop months to years after treatment, regular assessment of prostate cancer survivors is necessary. ¹¹⁹ For men followed-up in secondary care, assessment should occur at every appointment. For those discharged into the community, this assessment would fall to their GP and/or questions about continence could form part of the Holistic Needs Assessment. These men will need rapid access back to specialist urology services as required.

Urinary incontinence

Urinary incontinence (UI) is the involuntary leakage or passing of urine. It may range from a few drips, to larger amounts which require the use of an incontinence product.

The prevalence of UI after radical prostatectomy can range from 2% to 60%, albeit at varying times after the operation. Problems tends to improve with time, although, some men are left with incontinence that persists for years afterwards. 121

Incontinence is less likely after radiotherapy treatment, but the risk is increased in men who've previously had a transurethral resection of the prostate (TURP) for an enlarged prostate.^{49,122} Incontinence can be broken down into three groups:

Urge incontinence is an overwhelming and sudden desire to pass urine and is caused by an instability in the detrusor muscle. Men may also find that they need to pass urine more frequently with this condition. Urge incontinence can sometimes occur after radiotherapy, as the treatment can

irritate the bladder muscles resulting in decreased bladder capacity. It is more likely to occur after prostatectomy, particularly if the prostate caused some urinary outflow obstruction prior to surgery. The bladder muscle will have been working hard to overcome the resistance due to the blockage, and this may continue post-operatively.

Stress incontinence occurs when the urinary sphincter loses its ability to remain contracted. The bladder may leak urine whenever it is strained (for example, by exercise, coughing or sneezing). Stress incontinence is common in men who've had radical prostatectomy as during surgery the urinary sphincter can become damaged.

Overflow incontinence is common in men with bladder outflow obstruction. Obstruction can be caused by either malignant or benign enlargement of the prostate or a urethral stricture. This causes the bladder to overfill with urine, and some is forced out into the urethra.

Managing incontinence

Management options depend on the type of incontinence a man is experiencing as well as patient choice, manual dexterity and performance status¹²³.

Non-surgical interventions

First-line management in the 12 months post-treatment for prostate cancer should be non-surgical:

Pelvic floor muscle exercises

NICE recommends offering supervised pelvic floor muscle training to men with stress urinary incontinence caused by prostatectomy. Their guidance promotes continuing the exercises for at least 3 months before considering other options. 117

Additionally, there is mixed evidence suggesting that preoperative or immediate postoperative exercises are useful, ^{10,119,121,124–126} and can improve pelvic floor and urethral instability, reducing post-surgery incontinence. ¹²⁴ An earlier return to continence was observed if exercises were started early in the post-treatment period and therapist-guided exercises were shown to significantly improve time to return of continence, especially after prostate surgery. ¹¹⁹

Other recommendations have been developed through clinical consensus and include: Start pre-treatment (ideally 1 month before surgery or within one month of radiotherapy, or catheter removal after surgery).

- Consider using a physiotherapist or at least a DVD with a physiotherapist demonstrating the exercises
- Continue exercises for at least 6 weeks in combination with biofeedback, if possible.

Information for men who want to know more about pelvic floor muscle exercises.

External collecting devices

NICE recommends offering external collecting devices for men who are leaking urine, before considering indwelling catheterization. ¹¹⁷

Absorbent pads or pants

These are used as a first-line intervention in clinical practice¹¹⁹ for absorbing and containing a light — to moderate amount of urine. The type of pad will be determined mostly by personal preference but will also be influenced by the severity and frequency of leakage. Some men prefer to use pads in combination with another product. More information.

Urinary sheaths

These fit over the penis and are connected to a catheter valve for very light leakage, or a drainage bag for moderate to heavy leakage. They may be a suitable solution for men who want to keep active or go out for prolonged periods of time where a toilet may not be accessible or changing a pad may be difficult or cause embarrassment. They can be difficult to use as they don't always stay on, but correctly fitted sheaths can be helpful. Further information.

Penile compression devices

Also known as or clamps, these devices fit around the penis and compress the urethra in order to prevent leakage. They are **not** recommended by NICE for men with urinary incontinence, ¹¹⁷ as they can be uncomfortable to wear and should not be worn for prolonged periods of time or overnight because they reduce blood flow into the penis. ¹²⁸ For this reason they may be most suitable for some men in an early stage of treatment (e.g. experiencing stress incontinence to use during exercise) ¹²⁹. Good dexterity is required. ¹¹⁹ More information.

Catheterisation

After surgery, men will have a temporary indwelling catheter. Long-term indwelling urethral catheterisation should only be offered to men with lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS) if medical management has failed and surgery is not appropriate and:

- They are unable to manage intermittent self-catheterisation; or
- They have skin wounds, pressure ulcers or irritation that are being contaminated by urine; or
- They are distressed by bed and clothing changes.

Men on long-term indwelling urethral catheterisation should be given advice about managing it, so that the risk of infection or other complications are reduced. Read Prostate Cancer UK's fact sheet for more information.

Pharmacological management

NICE recommends drug treatment only after the conservative management options described above have been tried. 117 Drug treatment for urinary incontinence will depend on local prescribing guidance, 119 and should be based on precise symptoms and cause, but may involve alpha blockers, anti-muscarinics (anti-cholinergics), 5-alpha reductase inhibitor or diuretics. 117,119 The 2015 integrative review described above offers sequencing recommendations and further guidance.

Surgical management for post-prostatectomy incontinence

Surgical interventions should only be considered after 1 year. 119

NICE recommend that adjustable compression devices and male slings to manage stress urinary incontinence are offered only as part of a randomised controlled trial.¹¹⁷

Artificial urinary sphincter (AUS)

This consists of an inflatable cuff that continuously compresses the urethra and a control pump in the scrotum. ¹³⁰ When the control pump is squeezed, fluid from the cuff is moved to the reservoir balloon, which means the man can urinate, after which the cuff is automatically refilled. ¹³⁰ Different cuff sizes are available and are selected before surgery according to urethral diameter. ¹³⁰

AUS is an option for men:

- With moderate to severe urinary incontinence. 124
- Who ave not responded to conservative management or drug treatments.

AUS may not be as effective for men who do not have the cognitive ability or dexterity to operate

the pump.¹²⁴ Possible complications and side effectives include: mechanical dysfunction, urethral constriction by fibrous tissue, erosion and infection.^{124,131,132}

Internal male sling

This involves the insertion of synthetic or organic material that compresses the urethra and supports the urinary sphincter to keep it closed. Slings may be fixed to the pubic bone, retrourethral transobturator or retropubic muscles. ¹³³ The retropubic sling is adjustable and tension can be modified through a superficial suprapubic incision. ¹³³ However, most designs have a similar efficacy. ^{124,133}

Slings may be a treatment option for men with mild-moderate incontinence. ^{124,133,134} There is limited evidence, however, that fixed or adjustable improve post-prostatectomy incontinence in patients with mild-to-moderate incontinence. ¹²⁴ Men who've previously had radiotherapy may not benefit from them. ^{130,133}

Side effects include: short-term pain, infection and, more rarely, urinary retention. 133,135

Radiation cystitis

Both external beam radiotherapy and brachytherapy can irritate parts of the lining of the bladder and the urethra close to the prostate – this is known as radiation cystitis. Reported incidence varies from less than 10% to 35% of those who have received external beam pelvic radiotherapy. Symptoms may include:

- Frequency, urgency or nocturia
- Obstructive symptoms in the form of hesitancy, incomplete emptying or complete outlet obstruction¹³⁷
- Haematuria

Acute Radiation cystitis will usually present itself during or shortly after finishing radiation treatment, and typically improves 6 – 8 weeks following the end of therapy. However, some men will experience problems for several months. Late onset radiation cystitis can present months or years after treatment has been completed. Symptoms experienced as a result of chronic radiation cystitis can be progressive. Management is symptom related only.

"My side effects started about seven days after brachytherapy – a weak flow and stinging when peeing. It's now three weeks since my treatment, and the stinging has improved."

A personal experience

Management

Depends on grade of cystitis and level of haematuria. 137

Lifestyle changes

Drinking cranberry juice or taking cranberry capsule is **not** recommended for prevention of UTIs,¹²¹ however it may help to relieve symptoms of irritation or pain or discomfort on urination.^{142,143} Cranberry products can increase the effect of Warfarin so they may not be suitable for all men. Other lifestyle changes may be more important e.g. avoiding caffeine, fizzy drinks and alcohol, as

these can irritate the bladder. 119,142,144-146

Intravesical therapy

If the symptoms are very severe then intravesical therapy can be considered. Bladder instillations such as sodium hyaluronate have been shown to relieve the symptoms of radiation cystitis with as many as 97% of patients reporting complete relief of pain and dysuria. This works by temporarily replenishing the glycosaminoglycan layer which protects the epithelium from becoming irritated. Sodium hyaluronate is instilled into the bladder via a urethral catheter on a weekly basis for a period of between 4-12 weeks.

Other treatment options include hyperbaric oxygen therapy (although not widely available in the UK) and surgery as a last resort. ¹³⁷ See further guidelines for a full management algorithm.

Overactive bladder (frequency, urgency and nocturia)

OAB can be a post-surgery symptom , although it is more common post-radiotherapy (acute radiation cystitis can manifest as OAB), 148 usually resolving after a few months. Less commonly, men may also experience urge incontinence (see above) and leak urine before they reach the toilet. 49,149,150

Men with overactive bladder symptoms should receive a physiological and anatomical assessment of the urinary tract (flexible cystoscopy). As well as pelvic floor muscle exercises, other treatment options are described below. 45

Management

Bladder retraining

This involves following a schedule encouraging progressively longer times between urination together with relaxation and distraction for urinary urgency. There is limited evidence to show clinical benefit for men who urinate frequently or experience urge incontinence. See Prostate Cancer UK's information for step-by-step guidance.

Pharmacological management for bladder spasms

First line drug treatments for OAB¹¹⁷ include anti-cholinergics or antimuscarinics, such as solifenacin (Vesicare®), tolterodine (Detrusitol XL®), and oxybutynin.^{145,152} These can produce side-effects that include a dry mouth, headaches, constipation and dizziness.^{124,145} Mirabegron (Betmiga®) tablets are a newer type of drug for treating overactive bladder, and a beta-3-adrenoceptor agonist.^{4,153} Side effects include urine infections and an increased heart rate.¹⁵³ Mirabegron is recommended as an option for treating the symptoms of overactive bladder only for people in whom antimuscarinic drugs are contraindicated or clinically ineffective, or have unacceptable side effects.¹⁵³

BOTOX®

With limited availability in the UK, intravesical botulinum toxin into the wall of the bladder appears to be a safe and effective therapy for refractory OAB symptoms. Side effects and complications include increased risk of urine infection and need for self-catheterisation in a small number of men. 154,155

Urinary retention

Radiotherapy and brachytherapy can cause urine retention, particularly in men with a large prostate. ^{124,149} Swelling of the prostate post-treatment can cause urethral blockage, as well as scarring which can lead to stricture. ¹³⁹ Additionally surgery, HIFU and cryotherapy may cause urinary retention ^{138,139,156} and may be acute or chronic:

Acute urine retention

This is characterised by a sudden and painful inability to urinate, ^{157,158} it needs immediate treatment with catherisation. ¹¹⁷

Chronic urine retention

This is defined as a non-painful bladder, which remains palpable or percussible after the patient has passed urine. Such patients may be incontinent. The pressure of the urine can slowly stretch and weaken the bladder muscle. This can cause urine to be left behind in the bladder after urination, which in turn may lead to infection, bladder stones, haematuria, and kidney damage without treatment. Head of the patient has palpable or percussible after the patient has passed urine can slowly stretch and weaken the bladder muscle. This can cause urine to be left behind in the bladder after urination, which in turn may lead to infection, bladder stones, haematuria, and kidney damage without treatment.

Management

Possible treatments include: 117,158

- Catherisation (urgently for acute retention)
- Pharmacological management with alpha-blockers or 5-alpha-reductase inhibitors
- Surgery to widen urethra or bladder opening.

"The pain was really bad and I couldn't go to the toilet. I was rushed to the hospital and a doctor put a catheter in. It took the pain away instantly."

A personal experience

3.4 Pelvic radiotherapy side effects

The nature of radiotherapy means that it can affect the normal tissues surrounding cancer cells, thus resulting in side effects in the treated organ, as well as other organs in the pelvic region.¹⁶¹

The side effects of radiotherapy may be acute in nature, or chronic - persisting for many years.

The underlying pathology of long-term and late adverse effects is different from that seen in the acute reaction. Late-responding tissues, such as vascular and connective tissues, have a slow turnover rate, so even though they sustain radiation damage at the time of treatment, the effects are not expressed until repeated cell division is attempted. For this reason, late radiation tissue injury can take several months to many years to develop and is largely a function of the total radiation dose and fraction size. 138,164–166

This issue is addressed in a separate section here due to the prevalence of these problems that sometimes go unmanaged. Approximately 50% of the 17,000 patients who receive pelvic radiotherapy every year will experience long-term or 'late' effects, which are collectively described as pelvic radiotherapy disease (PRD). With 20–40% of patients suffering serious side effects that cause medical and psychosocial problems. 167

The risk of developing long-term and late side effects is increased by older age, diabetes, previous bowel or prostate surgery, and previous bladder, bowel and erectile problems. 168

Side effects are likely to be more severe, where men are having a combination of treatments, for example brachytherapy and external beam radiotherapy, ¹⁸ men having hormone therapy will also be dealing with those side effects as well (see section on hormone therapy).

When men with prostate cancer are diagnosed and treated, they may not have a full understanding of the side effects of treatment, and therefore may not recognise them, especially when occurring years later. They may consult a GP rather than speaking with their specialist team. Equally as a healthcare professional seeing a man months or years later, you may not be aware that he ever received pelvic radiotherapy. As a result, the signs and symptoms of pelvic radiotherapy disease (PRD) may go overlooked and untreated. The signs are supported to the signs and symptoms of pelvic radiotherapy disease (PRD) may go overlooked and untreated.

A holistic approach to addressing the physical, psychological, social and emotional impact of radiotherapy side effects, is the gold standard management approach.¹⁶⁹

Men should be offered high quality, relevant information on managing side effects in the right format for them, as well as information on local support groups. This is important so that they can be fully involved in making decisions about their own care. The same statement of the same

As part of management of side effects such as gastrointestinal problems men should be given advice to support self-management of symptoms such as information on physical activity, diet and stress management (see below).

Common side effects

Some of the side effects described below can be both acute and chronic in nature:

Acute/temporary side effects

- Skin and hair changes
- Ejaculation pain
- Changes to semen/dry orgasm

Acute/temporary and chronic/late side effects

- Urinary problems
- Fatigue
- Erectile dysfunction
- Fertility problems
- Gastrointestinal problems

Chronic/late side effects

- Lymphoedema
- Hip and bone problems
- Second cancers

Effects on the skin and hair

Skin irritation and hair loss are rarer acute side effects, due to improved radiotherapy techniques, but men may still develop:

- red, darker, dry, flaky, itchy skin in treated area;
- darkened, moist, sore skin around back passage and between legs towards the end of treatment-related;
- dreaks in skin around scrotum, back passage and groin; and
- temporary loss of pubic hair (no loss of hair on head).

Skin reactions may be worst up to two weeks after radiotherapy but then improve. Clinical oncologists and therapy radiographers will provide advice on skincare during and after treatment. 170

Urinary problems

Problems include radiation cystitis, and less commonly men may also experience urge incontinence and leak urine before they reach the toilet. 49,149,171

Swelling of the prostate and urethral scarring during brachytherapy may also cause urinary retention. ^{49,172,173} This is rare, but acute urinary retention should be treated as a medical emergency.

Read more about urinary problems in section 3.3.

Fatigue

The effect of radiation on the body often leaves patients feeling more fatigued than usual, especially towards the end of a treatment course and symptoms may be worse for men also receiving hormone therapy. 32,174

More information on managing fatigue can be found in section 3.5.

Sexual and fertility problems

Acute problems

Immediately after EBRT, men may experience temporary symptoms such as uncomfortable ejaculation, producing less semen and dry orgasm (no ejaculate).³⁶

Erectile dysfunction

Retrospective studies suggest that radiotherapy affects erectile function to a lesser degree than surgery. 175,176 External beam radiotherapy may be more likely to cause ED than brachytherapy. 82

It may be up to two years before erectile dysfunction occurs and problems can get worse over time. 90

Fertility

As radiotherapy can damage the cells that make semen and cause dry orgasm, it can affect fertility. 32,177 Men may want to consider sperm storage. 114

There is a very small chance that radiotherapy could affect children conceived during treatment, so contraception is recommended during and for at least a year after radiotherapy if there is a chance of a partner becoming pregnant. 114,178

More information on managing sexual problems and fertility can be found in section 3.2.

Gastrointestinal problems

Regardless of the treatment technique used, radiotherapy for prostate cancer exposes a portion of the lower gastrointestinal (GI) tract to ionizing radiation and consequently carries a risk of GI toxicity.¹⁷⁹ This can cause both acute and chronic problems.

Acute problems

Radiation toxicity is defined as acute when occurring during radiotherapy or within 3 months. ¹⁶⁴ Gastrointestinal symptoms may begin during treatment. ^{149,180–182} Among the most frequently reported symptoms are: ^{180,181}

- diarrhoea
- urgency
- rectal bleeding
- faecal incontinence
- tenesmus (cramping rectal pain)
- abdominal cramps
- mucus discharge
- loss of appetite
- nausea.

Chronic

Nine out of ten patients who received pelvic radiotherapy experience chronic change to their bowel habit, with half reporting a significant change to their quality of life. Despite this, only one-fifth of patients with PRD in the United Kingdom are reviewed by a gastroenterologist. 184

Problems can develop months or years after treatment and may be similar to the short-term side effects described above. ¹⁴⁹ If men had GI problems during treatment, they may be more likely to develop problems later on. ^{149,185,186}

Assessment and management

Andreyev et al (2013)¹⁸⁷ devised an investigative and management <u>algorithm</u> to help improve the gastrointestinal symptoms of chronic PRD. Results of a randomised controlled trial showed that the

algorithm-based care improved symptoms in patients with PRD. Additionally, the study indicated that nurse-led care is sufficient for the majority of patients with PRD. Macmillan have produced a quick guide for health professionals that is based on this algorithm covering the management of lower gastrointestinal problems after cancer treatment. Key points include: 188

The use of four trigger questions that should regularly be asked to people who've had pelvic radiotherapy (answering 'yes' will indicate need for basic assessment):

Are you woken up at night to have a bowel movement?

Do you need to rush to the toilet to have a bowel movement?

Do you ever have bowel leakage, soiling or a loss of control over your bowels?

Do you have any bowel symptoms preventing you from living a full life?

Basic assessment should involve questions about rectal bleeding (should be investigated at least with flexible sigmoidoscopy), medical history and possibly a bowel/food diary (<u>a template is</u> available from Macmillan).

Basic advice and treatment should involve information to support self-management, for example promoting physical activity, reduced alcohol intake, stress management and dietary modification (see more below). Practical advice includes information on accessing public toilets (e.g. RADAR key scheme), bowel training and pelvic floor muscle exercises. Additionally stool bulking agents or anti-diarrhoeal medication should be described depending on symptoms.

Further investigation and management are recommended if advice and basic investigations do not help. These should include tests for rectal bleeding, faecal incontinence/leakage and urgency (without diarrhoea), diarrhoea, constipation, abdominal pain and painful bowel movements.

Referral to gastroenterologist or other specialist is necessary if symptoms have not improved and if further tests and treatment are needed. Other specialists include oncology and dietitians, depending on symptoms.

Dietary modification. There have been benefits demonstrated with dietary modification during pelvic radiotherapy to reduce diarrhoea. Those diets included single interventions or combinations of modified fat, lactose-restriction, fat-restriction and fibre supplementation.⁶¹

Macmillan's guide to managing lower gastrointestinal problems after cancer treatment recommends that any dietary changes made should be done in a systematic way and should always be for a trial period initially. ¹⁸⁸ If symptoms do not improve dramatically, the dietary change may not provide any benefit and may actually restrict the person's nutritional intake. Referral to a dietitian is recommended if long term changes need to be made. Some general advice: ¹⁸⁸

- Excessive fibre is a common cause of GI problems, especially following pelvic radiotherapy. A reduction in fibre for a short time may be beneficial. 60–62
- Inadequate fibre intake can also exacerbate GI symptoms. Patients should be advised that if they plan to increase the amount of fibre in their diet, they should also increase their fluid intake.
- High fat, caffeine and alcohol intake, artificial sweeteners and carbonated drinks can contribute to bloating, excessive flatulence and diarrhoea. 189,190
- Patients may develop carbohydrate intolerances including lactose or fructose intolerances. If suspected food intolerance has been confirmed, referral to a dietitian is advised.
- Skipping meals may make bowel habits unpredictable. So, patients may be advised to eat at regular times. If patients are losing weight because of their GI problems,

referral to a dietitian should be considered.

World Cancer Research Fund's booklet <u>Eat Well during during Cancer</u> offers information about healthy ways to modify diet to help cope with the side effects of cancer and treatment.

Rectal bleeding

Bleeding occurs in 50% of patients who receive pelvic radiotherapy as a consequence of radiation induced telangectasia (small dilated blood vessels - near the surface of the mucous membranes), which usually form on the anterior rectal wall. But it impairs quality of life in fewer than 6%. Telangiectases may heal spontaneously over 5 to 10 years. As above, patients should be assessed at least with flexible sigmoidoscopy. 165

Treatment options include observation, medical management, endoscopic intervention and even surgical approaches. ¹⁹¹ Management is guided mainly by small randomised trials and single institutional studies. ¹⁹¹ Treatment should be escalated corresponding to the patient's clinical status, keeping in mind the known toxicity of each potential treatment. ¹⁹¹ Treatments with RCT based evidence include sulfracate enemas, 4 week treatment with metronidazole, vitamin A and hyperbaric oxygen therapy. ¹⁶⁵

Lymphoedema

If the lymph nodes have also been treated with radiotherapy, there is a chance of lymphoedema. This usually affects the legs, but it can affect other areas, including the penis or testicles. It can occur months or even years after treatment. **See section 3.8. for management options.**

Hip and bone problems

Radiotherapy can damage the bone cells and the blood supply to the bones near the prostate. This can cause pain, and hip and bone problems later in life. ¹⁹³ Men who are also having hormone therapy are more at risk of this side effect. ¹⁹³

Second cancers

Radiotherapy can damage the cells in the tissues surrounding the prostate. Therefore there is a small increased risk of bladder or bowel cancer. ^{18,194–196} It would take at least 5 to 10 years after treatment with radiotherapy for a second cancer to appear. ¹⁸

Men should be informed of this increased risk. Men who have symptoms of pelvic radiation disease should be offered full investigations, including flexible sigmoidoscopy to exclude malignancy.

Specific support and information needs for men receiving brachytherapy

Brachytherapy patients should complete a male health questionnaire before implant and prior to every consultation thereafter, covering sexual, bladder and bowel functions. Changes can therefore be monitored and discussed. Men should be given contact details for brachytherapy radiographers or other keyworkers to contact by phone or email for advice.

Men should receive guidance on radiation safety, in particular regarding avoiding close contact with pregnant women, young children and pets.¹⁹⁷ It is recommended that during the first two months

following brachytherapy, children should not sit in close proximity to the patient or on the patients lap for more than a few minutes a day. ¹⁹⁸ Men should also avoid sitting in close proximity to pregnant women for long periods of time. ¹⁹⁸

For men who have received permanent seed implantation the use of a condom for the first five ejaculations is recommended due to the small risk that a seed may be contained within the ejaculate. Condoms should be double wrapped and placed in the dustbin for disposal. ¹⁹⁸ Expelled brachytherapy seeds should not be picked up by hand. Should a seed be expelled either through ejaculation or urination it should be picked up with tweezers or a spoon and flushed down the toilet. ¹⁹⁸ It is important that the patient knows to inform their oncologist should any of the seeds be expelled as this can impact on the overall dosimetric and in the majority of cases if seeds are expelled through urination, this is likely to happen shortly after implantation. ¹⁹⁸

In the event that the man requires further surgery following seed implantation, he should be made aware that he will need to inform the surgeon and team caring for him as there may be potential for radiation risk.

Men and their caregivers should also be made aware that if the patient passes away within 20 months of their seed implantation, the relevant persons are informed of recent seed implantation ahead of a post-mortem or cremation so that radiation risks can be assessed appropriately. 198

3.5 Fatigue

Fatigue is often under acknowledged in a man's prostate cancer journey. ⁴⁶For healthy individuals fatigue may be regarded as a normal response to physical or psychological stress, and is easily overcome with rest and relaxation. ¹⁹⁹ However in people with cancer, fatigue has been defined as, "a subjective, unpleasant symptom which incorporates total body feelings ranging from tiredness to exhaustion creating an unrelenting overall condition which interferers with individuals' ability to function to their normal capacity." Thus it is common for prostate cancer related fatigue to be a relentless and distressing symptom before, during and after treatment.²⁰⁰

Fatigue is a prevalent symptom in men with prostate cancer and all treatment types may cause fatigue in men at differing levels. A systematic review found that prevalence of any fatigue can be as high as 74% in men with prostate cancer, whilst chronic fatigue prevalence was highest (39 %) when hormone therapy was combined with radiotherapy.²⁰¹ Fatigue severity is reported as worse in hormone therapy and treatment combining hormone therapy and radiotherapy.²⁰¹

Through better management of fatigue, men with prostate cancer would be in a better position to lead active lives and engage in hobbies, activities and pastimes.

The impact of fatigue on physical and emotional wellbeing

The effect of fatigue in men with prostate cancer can be debilitating. Daily life can become severely limited with the symptom impacting on work, routines and activities and resulting in a loss of 'self' for some. ²⁰⁰ The impact on daily life can also have an impact partners' lives and their own sense of 'self'. ²⁰² Perhaps not surprisingly, the negative effects caused by fatigue can lead to co-morbidities that include psychological dysfunctions of depression and anxiety, which can arise in both the man and those around him. ²⁰³

'Fatigue hits you at random times, you feel as if you are getting your mojo back and its ok for a few days and then all of a sudden you have a really bad day and that was one of the things I found really difficult'*

Managing fatigue

Research into the effects of fatigue suggest that exercise, changes in diet, psychosocial support and complementary therapies may help reduce cancer related fatigue in men with prostate cancer. ²⁰⁴ Therefore, regular assessment and teaching self-management techniques are important in the management of fatigue. Encouraging self-monitoring of fatigue levels can be helpful as this highlights the times when a man feels he has the most energy and can help in supporting the planning of activities around fatigue. Some men feel this helps them to regain an element of control in terms of their day-to-day living.

Lots of people find it hard to be more active. Some men may be suffering with incontinence as a result of their treatment and feel worried about exercising. Light to moderate exercise has been shown to improve cancer related fatigue and walking programs are generally safe for most men with

prostate cancer. Some men find that setting small goals helps with managing their fatigue and motivational coaching from their doctor or nurse can be essential in helping them to achieve this.

Specialist telephone intervention – case study

Working in collaboration with Florence Nightingale School of Nursing and Midwifery, King's College London (KCL), Prostate Cancer UK was awarded a Knowledge Transfer Partnership (KTP) from the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI). KTP projects are designed to help businesses/charities benefit from the expertise in UK universities, colleges and research organisations by helping them to develop new products, services or processes.

Prostate Cancer UK already operated a successful helpline service but lacked the expertise in delivering tailored interventions to help men with prostate cancer manage fatigue. The KTP award allowed us to work in collaboration with Professor Ream and her team at KCL, who are the acknowledged leaders in cancer related fatigue.

The project reviewed the published evidence,²⁰¹ and verified that around two-thirds of men with prostate cancer experienced fatigue. Men being treated with hormone therapy and radiotherapy experienced the most severe symptoms, and very few men were offered advice or support to manage their symptoms.

Prostate Cancer UK adapted an intervention developed and tested by KCL which aimed to reduce fatigue in cancer patients during chemotherapy. The development of a trial to test the effectiveness of the intervention was heavily influenced by the findings of the research carried out during the systematic review.²⁰¹

Underpinning the trial intervention was a counselling technique called Motivational Interviewing (MI), which uses behaviour change techniques to improve health and wellbeing. A central concept of MI is the identification, examination, and resolution of ambivalence (feeling two ways about something, both positive and negative) about changing behaviour. Ambivalence is seen as a natural part of the change process. MI is a conversation you have together and is not a one way lecture. It's designed to strengthen your motivation and commitment to changing a behaviour.

'....It's a combination of things; forcing you to think about it and a bit of encouragement and some ideas really without it being 'do this, do that, do the other'. I was very conscious that I was not being told to do anything'*

The trial aimed to use nurse-led telephone calls to support and encourage men to make positive changes to their behaviour and lifestyle that could reduce symptoms of fatigue. Examples of such changes could include increasing exercise levels slowly and gradually, increasing social activities, getting back into hobbies, or changing diet.

'She gave me ideas and, I tried to put them in place and what not and I thought, hey, hang on, this does work'*

Findings evidenced improved overall fatigue levels, severity, symptoms and management (including social functioning) for men who received the service. These improvements were statistically significant and indicated a sustainable model of service delivery acceptable to men with prostate cancer ensuring they can lead fuller and more active daily lives. As a result, it is now an ongoing

service delivered by Prostate Cancer UK's Specialist Nurses.

Since the successful completion of the pilot study in 2012, the Fatigue support service has been one of the core services provided by the Specialist Nurses. The service continues to be evaluated by measuring fatigue levels on a scale during each call and from telephone interviews after men have completed the programme. Fatigue scores have demonstrated an overall improvement in fatigue levels and evaluation interviews have provided a rich insight into the experience of men taking part in the service.

'I now have a realistic expectation of what I can achieve and if I work at it and pace myself I do make progress. I have had a recent increase in energy, I anticipate it will drop down again, in which case, I am ready!'*

*Quotes taken with permission from men from ongoing service evaluation

Resources

Web-based self-management module for fatigue live on PCUK website.

3.6 Support for men dealing with the side effects of hormone therapy

Hormone therapy decreases testosterone levels, and has an extensive side-effect profile, the main ones being:

- Hot flushes
- Changes to sexual function
- Extreme tiredness (fatigue)
- Weight gain
- Strength and muscle loss
- Breast swelling and tenderness
- Loss of body hair
- Bone thinning
- Mood changes
- Risk of heart disease, stroke and diabetes

Cholesterol, especially LDL cholesterol also tends to rise and muscle tends to get replaced by fat. Most men who are on hormone therapy experience at least some of these effects, but the degree to which any man will be affected by any one drug regimen is impossible to predict

Anti-androgen therapy is less likely to result in sexual dysfunction and/or fatigue. ¹⁸ These are oral compounds that are classified according to their chemical structure as:

- steroidal, e.g. cyproterone acetate (CPA), megestrol acetate and medroxyprogesterone acetate;
- non-steroidal or pure, e.g. nilutamide, flutamide and bicalutamide.

Both compete with androgen receptors, but as this is the only function of non-steroidal antiandrogens, they lead to an unchanged or slightly elevated testosterone level. By contrast, steroidal antiandrogens have progestational properties. These agents commonly cause breast enlargement (gynaecomastia).

Hormone therapy used in combination

Hormone therapy can be used as combined androgen blockade (CAB) where an lutenising hormone releasing hormone agent (LHRHa) is given in combination with an anti-androgen to provide an androgen blockade for men with metastatic disease.¹⁸

Hormone therapy is also combined with radical radiotherapy to treat intermediate and high risk localised and locally advanced tumors that have not yet spread to more distant locations, such as the bones (see section on Radical radiotherapy).

Additionally, The UK STAMPEDE trial²⁰⁵demonstrated that the use of docetaxel chemotherapy at the time of initiation of androgen deprivation therapy significantly increased overall survival for men with metastatic or high risk, locally-advanced disease.

However, it's recognised that these combined treatment approaches may result in increased and cumulative adverse events, side effects and reduced quality of life. 18,205–207 Therefore, patients should receive information about this prior to making treatment decisions, 208 and will need

additional support and monitoring.

Support for men

It is important that men receiving hormone therapy (alone or in combination with other treatments) are regularly monitored, especially in relation to bone health, cardiovascular health, diabetes, anaemia and sexual function. Referrals to relevant specialists should be made as soon as symptoms occur. Additionally, recommendations should be made to ensure a healthy diet, regular exercise and smoking cessation.⁴⁹

Hormone therapy can also affect mood with some research showing increased emotional lability (exaggerated changes in mood in quick succession), and impulsivity.²⁰⁹ there may be a link between hormone therapy and depression, although results are inconsistent.²¹⁰

In general, living with the side effects of hormone therapy can have an impact on men's quality of life^{211,212} and physical and emotional changes can have a profound effect on their sense of identity and masculinity.¹⁰³ It's important that men are informed and prepared for these side effects and their impact²¹³ and have access to psychosexual and psychosocial support in particular.

One model is to provide group patient education and support on side effects:

Case study: How to stay healthy on hormones – Guy's Hospital

Intermittent hormone therapy

Intermittent hormone therapy is a strategy commonly used for minimising the side effects of hormone therapy. This strategy takes advantage of the fact that it takes a while for testosterone to rise again after LHRH agonists are removed. With intermittent hormone therapy, the LHRH agonist is used for up to twelve months, during which time a low <u>PSA</u> level is maintained. The drug is stopped until the PSA rises to a predetermined level, at which point the drug is restarted. The "drug holidays" in between cycles allow men to return to nearly normal levels of testosterone, potentially enabling improvement in side effects before the next cycle begins again.

NICE guidance recommends that intermittent therapy should be considered for men on long term hormones. Evidence from low quality research shows no difference in overall survival between intermittent and continuous hormone therapy. Intermittent hormone therapy had been associated with improvements in health-related quality of life and reduction in adverse events which could potentially lead to improved patient acceptability. Mixed quality research has shown that this approach may lead to improvement in hot flushes, gynaecomastia, bone health, haematological effects, low libido and erectile dysfunction. ^{18,214} It may also improve general health-related quality of life. ¹⁸ Positive effects on fatigue are less clear. ²¹⁰ However, NICE recognises that this evidence is of low quality and therefore if men are offered intermittent therapy, they should be informed that there is limited evidence for reduction in side effects and progression-free survival. ¹⁸

NICE recommends that men having intermittent androgen deprivation therapy should:

- have their PSA measured every 3 months and
- restart androgen deprivation therapy if PSA is 10 ng/ml or above, or if they are symptomatic

See the Treatment pathway for guidance on treatment approach for intermittent hormone therapy.

Side effects of hormone therapy

The following are specific side effects associated with hormone therapy:

Hot flushes

Hot flushes affect men on LHRH agonists or anti-androgens. ⁴⁹ They're similar in nature to menopausal hot flushes in women, and may last for a few seconds or for severe flushes, a few hours and are also associated with sweating and nausea. Up to eight out of ten men on LHRH agonists (80 per cent) experience hot flushes. ²¹⁵ Men may experience regular hot flushes for the duration of hormone therapy, ²¹⁶ others may find they decrease with time or become milder. ²¹⁷

Medical management

NICE recommend medroxyprogesterone (20 mg per day), initially for 10 weeks, to manage troublesome hot flushes caused by long-term androgen suppression and promote evaluating the effect at the end of the treatment period. NICE also suggests that cyproterone acetate (50 mg twice a day for 4 weeks) is considered for treating troublesome hot flushes if medroxyprogesterone is not effective or not tolerated. 18

Complementary therapies

NICE recommends informing men that there is **no good-quality evidence** for the use of complementary therapies to treat troublesome hot flushes.¹⁸ If men wish to try unproven herbal remedies such as sage tea, evening primrose oil and red clover, it is important that health professionals are informed and men are made aware that Black cohosh can cause liver damage. Men with a history of liver or kidney disease should be advised to avoid it altogether.²¹⁸ Acupuncture has been investigated as a treatment for hot flushes but evidence of its effectiveness is of poor quality and further studies are needed.²¹⁹

Self-management

There is no strong evidence linking dietary or lifestyle changes to the frequency of hot flushes. However some men may find that making lifestyle changes can help them feel more in control of their symptoms: For example:

- Smoking cessation and maintenance of a health weight.²²⁰
- Adequate fluid intake, reducing spicy foods, caffeine and alcohol.
- Keeping rooms cool, using cotton bedding and clothes, lukewarm baths and shower.
- Working out potential triggers for hot flushes, using a diary.

There is a small study underway investigating cognitive behavourial therapy (CBT) for the management of hot flushes.²²¹

Sexual dysfunction

See section 3.2 for detailed information on assessing and managing sexual problems.

Osteoporosis

See section 3.7 for detailed information on osteoporosis.

Gynaecomastia

Breast swelling and tenderness is the most common side effect of anti-androgens and experienced by most men.²²² Men receiving oestrogen may also experience gynaecomastia. It's a less common effect of LHRH agonists or gonadotrophin releasing hormone antagonists (GnRH) antagonist, orchidectomy or combined hormone therapy.²²³

Management

For men starting long-term treatment using anti-androgen bicalutamide as a monotherapy (longer than 6 months), it is advised that prophylactic radiotherapy to both breast buds is offered within the first month of treatment. This should be administered as a single fraction of 8 Gy using orthovoltage or electron beam radiotherapy.¹⁸

If radiotherapy is unsuccessful in preventing gynaecomastia, weekly tamoxifen should be considered. 18

Surgery may also be used to treat breast swelling by removing painful or swollen areas of the breast. This treatment carries a risk of damage to the nipple and a loss of feeling.²²³ It's usually only offered if other treatments have been unsuccessful and symptoms are causing a high degree of stress and pain.²²⁴

Fatigue

Hormone therapy can cause extreme tiredness.²²⁵ It is important that men are informed that fatigue is a recognised side effect of hormone therapy.¹⁸

Physical activity is an important way to manage hormone therapy related fatigue.^{55,226} In particular, men who are starting or having androgen deprivation therapy should be offered supervised resistance and aerobic exercise at least twice a week for 12 weeks to reduce fatigue and improve quality of life.¹⁸ They should be referred to physiotherapy where appropriate.

See section 3.5 for more guidance on fatigue management.

Weight gain / strength and muscle loss

Men may experience an increase in body weight (particularly around the waist).²²⁷ There may also be a decrease in muscle tissue and an increase in the amount of body fat.²²⁷

Management

Regular gentle resistance exercise may help to reduce muscle loss and maintain strength. 55,226

Metabolic and cardiovascular effects

Hormone therapy may cause insulin resistance and a higher prevalence of a metabolic-like syndrome. Symptoms include increased waist circumference, blood pressure and cholesterol.⁴⁹ NICE recognises that adverse cardiovascular effects can occur with long term use of hormone therapy.¹⁸ However, evidence is low quality and more research is needed in order to understand the link between these conditions.¹⁸

The risk-to-benefit ratio of hormone therapy should be considered in patients with a higher risk of cardiovascular complications, especially if it is possible to delay starting treatment.⁴⁹

Monitoring and management

EAU guidance recommends:49

- Screening all patients for diabetes.
- Considering a cardiology consultation for men with a history of cardiovascular disease and men older than 65 years when starting hormone therapy.
- Giving advice on lifestyle modification and treating pre-existing conditions, such as diabetes, hyperlipidaemia, and/or hypertension. Lifestyle management may have a preventative effect and includes non-specific measures such as weight loss, increased exercise, improved nutrition and smoking cessation. 44,226

Cognitive effects

Some studies have suggested that hormone therapy can affect memory and concentration.^{228–230} However, it is difficult to ascertain whether these changes are directly related to treatment or other factors such as fatigue, anxiety or normal age-related cognitive decline.²²⁹

Management

Practical strategies such as list-making as well as combining sufficient rest with physical activity may help. An ongoing randomised trial is evaluating the impact of exercise on reducing the cognitive and psychosocial side effects of ADT.²³¹

3.7 Bone health

Osteoporosis

Osteoporosis is a condition characterised by low bone mass and deterioration of bone tissue, with an increase in bone fragility and susceptibility to fracture. 18,232

Osteoporosis is common in the older men and therefore may be a pre-existing condition in men who are about to start hormonal therapy, which in turn may cause the development or worsening of the condition.¹⁸

Lutenising hormone releasing hormone (LHRH) agonists, gonadotrophin releasing hormone (GnRH) antagonists and orchidectomy can cause bone thinning, which can occur within 6 to 12 months of beginning treatment. The amount of bone loss may increase the longer a man is receiving hormone deprivation treatment, however anti-androgen and oestrogen tablets are less likely to cause bone thinning. ^{233,234}

Severe bone thinning can lead to osteoporosis, ²³⁰ which can increase fracture risk. ²²⁹ Other factors for increased fracture risk include: ²³⁵

- Increasing age (risk increased partly independent of reducing BMD).
- Low body mass (<19 kg/m2).
- Parental history of hip fracture.
- Past history of fragility fracture (especially hip, wrist and spine fracture).
- Corticosteroid therapy (current treatment at any dose orally for three months or more).
- Alcohol intake of three or more units per day.
- Smoking.
- Falls and conditions increasing the risk of falls such as visual impairment.

For full list see: https://patient.info/doctor/osteoporosis-pro

Management

Monitoring

Fracture risk assessment should be considered in men having hormone therapy and should be undertaken in line with assessments for osteoporosis (NICE clinical guideline 146).

This may involve a dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry [DXA] scan before and during treatment.²³⁶ In particular, for men over 70, bone mineral density should be checked at baseline and, dependent on risk, every 12-24 months.²³⁷

Medication

NICE recommends offering bisphosphonates to men having hormone therapy who have osteoporosis.¹⁸ However, they should **not** be routinely offered to prevent osteoporosis in men having hormone therapy.

Denosumab (Xgeva®) is a new drug for treating bone problems, but it is not yet widely available for men with prostate cancer in the UK. It should only be considered for men having hormone therapy

who have osteoporosis if bisphosphonates are contraindicated or not tolerated. 18

Lifestyle changes

Men should be advised to make the following lifestyle changes to prevent osteoporosis during their hormonal treatment:

- Ensuring calcium and vitamin D intake is meeting recommended levels.^{238–240} If dietary intake
 is insufficient they should receive supplementation.²⁴¹
- Reducing alcohol intake.²⁴²
- Stopping smoking.⁵³
- Exercising regularly (in particular gentle resistance exercise). 53,243
- Maintaining a healthy weight.²³⁶

Quality of life and support

It's possible that quality of life in men with prostate cancer who also have osteoporosis may be adversely affected, as patients with osteoporosis have particular worries around fracture risk, fear of falling as well as symptoms such as pain and fatigue.²³² Knowledge of treatment options and lifestyle changes that could be made may alleviate any anxiety.

Additionally, the <u>National Osteoporosis Society</u> offer support, information and advice and have a helpline and a list of support groups.

Bone metastases

More than 90% of patients with castrate resistant prostate cancer have bone metastases.²⁴³ These can lead to skeletal-related events such as spinal cord compression, pathologic fracture, and the need for surgery or radiotherapy.²⁴⁴ Bone metastases are a major cause of death, disability, and decreased quality of life.²⁴⁵

Bone metastases can damage or weaken the bone and may cause pain. Pain in the bone and the spine can impact on mobility.²⁴⁶ Skeletal related events and their treatment in men with metastatic prostate cancer are linked to declines in physical and emotional well-being.²⁴⁷ Cancer-related pain can affect quality of life, relationships and sleep quality.²⁴⁸ Equally, low mood and anxiety can exacerbate pain.²⁴⁹

Therefore, it's vital that men with bone metastases receive psychosocial support. Palliative care should be integrated into their coordinated care and not restricted to end of life or hospice care.¹⁸

Management

Alongside first or second-line hormone therapy and other therapies to control the cancer, men with symptomatic bone metastases may benefit from bone targeted therapies such as bisphosphonates, strontium-89 and radium-223 dichloride¹⁸ as well as other pain controlling treatments.

Bisphosphonates for pain relief may be considered for men with hormone-relapsed prostate cancer when other treatments (including analgesics and palliative radiotherapy) have failed. ¹⁸ Bisphosphonates may help to control bone thinning (see above), reduce the risk of fracture, reduce the level of calcium in the blood and reduce pain. NICE advise choosing the oral or intravenous administration according to convenience, tolerability and cost. Zoledronic acid (Zometa@) is administered intravenously and is the most common bisphosphonate drug given to men with advanced prostate cancer

External beam radiotherapy (EBRT) is an effective way of improving pain from bone metastases⁴⁹ and is useful as treatment for spinal cord compression caused by bone metastases in the vertebrae.¹⁸ EBRT helps with pain control^{18,250,251} and if pain reoccurs, treatment to the same area may be possible.²⁵²

Strontium-89 (Sr-89) is a beta-emitting radioactive isotope which is given intravenously and is taken up preferentially in bone metastases. In systematic reviews of randomised trials, Sr-89 has been shown to improve pain control and prevent new sites of pain In comparison with standard care.¹⁸

Radium-223 (Xofigo) is an alpha-emitting radioactive isotope, also given intravenously. It is associated with improvement in pain, quality of life, delayed bone fractures and has a survival benefit. It is available in the UK for men with hormone-relapsed prostate cancer with bone metastases, who have not yet received chemotherapy or for whom chemotherapy is not deemed suitable. In the UK for men with hormone-relapsed prostate cancer with bone metastases, who have not yet received chemotherapy or for whom chemotherapy is not deemed suitable.

Surgery is a less common approach but may involve internal fixation with a metal pin/plan to stabilise the area of affected bone and reduce fracture risk.²⁵⁴ Percutaneous cementoplasty is indicated for patients with painful bone metastases. The aim is to reduce pain and stabilise bones.^{254–256} Radiation can be given after surgery to prevent regrowth of cancer in the area.²⁵⁴

Pain medication - standard analgesia should be prescribed in a step-wise approach in accordance with the World Health Organisation's pain relief ladder. Additionally, higher dose steroids can have an anti-inflammatory effect on bone metastases and can reduce pain. 18

Self-management

- Small studies have found that transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) could help some people with bone pain, ^{259,260} although more research is needed. ²⁵⁴
- Men may wish to try strategies such as relaxation, distraction, hot/cold packs and gentle exercise to help make themselves comfortable.²⁴⁸
- Some men may find using complementary therapies such as massage, acupuncture, hypnosis and reflexology helpful, increasing their relaxation and sense of well-being.²⁶¹

Refer to Prostate Cancer UK's information on managing pain for further detail and more strategies. There is more information on metastatic spinal cord compression in the treatment section of this pathway.

3.8 Support for men with advanced metastatic prostate cancer

Men with prostate cancer may live for long periods of time even after the development of advanced disease -30% of men diagnosed with stage IV disease live for five years, ²⁶² and therefore, face the challenges of living with a chronic illness. ²⁶³

The complications of advanced prostate cancer are most commonly caused by spread to the bones and lymph, urethra, bladder, ureters and rectum. ¹⁸ Less commonly metastatic spread is to the lungs and the liver. ¹⁸

Other common symptoms of advanced prostate cancer such as fatigue, sexual dysfunction, urinary problems and issues with bone health are covered in previous sections of this support pathway. Metastatic spinal cord compression is an oncological emergency and is covered in the treatment section of this pathway.

Symptomatic advanced-stage prostate cancer and its treatment can have a negative impact on patient quality of life.²⁶³ Men with advanced prostate cancer report a range of unmet needs in relation to physical, intimacy/sexual, practical, and health system/informational needs; existential concerns; emotional and psychological needs; and patient/clinician communication.²⁶⁴ A recent UK based study found that men with advanced prostate cancer felt that current care delivery is not providing the holistic person-centred support that they needed, which is why it's important to consider the distinct symptoms associated with this stage, as well as psychosocial issues.²⁶⁴ Living with advanced prostate cancer can also involve living with fears over disease progression and the end of life.⁵⁰

Consequently patients with advanced prostate cancer can experience significant reductions in health-related quality of life, ⁵¹ and can fare worse in terms of psychological distress and adjustment than those at the localised disease stage. ²⁶⁵

Men with metastatic prostate cancer should be offered tailored information and access to specialist urology and palliative care teams to address their specific needs. This includes:¹⁸

- The opportunity to discuss any significant changes in their disease status or symptoms as these occur.
- A regular assessment of needs.
- Integration of palliative interventions at any stage into coordinated care, facilitating transitions between care settings as smoothly as possible.
- The discussion of personal preferences for palliative care as early as possible with men with metastatic prostate cancer, their partners and carers.
- Tailoring treatment/care plans accordingly and identifying the preferred place of care.
- Ensuring that palliative care is available when needed and is not limited to the end of life. It should not be restricted to being associated with hospice care.

For more information on supporting the psychological consequences of prostate cancer general see section 3.

For more information on end of life/palliative care see section 3.9. Refer patients to Prostate Cancer UK information on advanced prostate cancer.

Symptoms of advanced prostate cancer:

Lymphoedema

For men with prostate cancer, lymphoedema usually results from lymphatic obstruction caused by metastases to the lymph nodes or treatments such as surgery and radiotherapy. Additionally, obesity is a well-known risk factor for the development of secondary lymphoedema following cancer treatment. Prevalence ranges from 4²⁶⁸ to 20% among men post-treatment and can occur months or even years after treatment.

Symptoms

Lymphoedema typically manifests as swollen, sometimes disfigured extremities or truncal regions that can be uncomfortable, painful and cause functional impairment.²⁶⁷ In prostate cancer, lymphoedema most commonly affects the legs as well as the penis or scrotum. Lymphoedema is associated with an increased risk of cellulitis, bacterial and fungal infections.²⁶⁷

Management and support

Lymphoedema is a significant health issue, and requires long term management and support. ^{267,269} Once diagnosed, men should be referred for specialist treatment as soon as possible to prevent further complications such as skin damage, leakage and infection. ²⁷⁰ As pharmacologic agents are of little benefit, ²⁷¹ the only effective treatment is therapy to induce tumour regression. However, complete decongestive therapy (CDT) has been shown to decrease limb volume and improve overall quality of life. ²⁷² CDT involves the use of manual lymph drainage (MLD), daily bandaging, skin care, exercise, and compression. ²⁷² The Lymphoedema Support Network provides more information on this for health professionals and patients.

Nurses can also play a critical role in supporting patients living with lymphoedema by recommending self-care programs. They can motivate men to wear their prescribed compression garments, perform their lymphatic exercises and self-MLD (a simplified form can be taught to patients and/or their partners/carers).

Therefore referral to a specialist lymphodema nurse is important, as is providing men with details of the Lymphoedema Support Network, which provides a list of services in the UK and advice about what you can do if specialist care is not available.

Patients with lymphoedema may also experience a wide range of psychological and physical difficulties including poor body image, anxiety, depression, embarrassment, impaired limb movement and physical mobility, and pain. ^{267,269} Education and information about self-management is a vital part of management, ²⁶⁹ as well as further support - Macmillan Cancer Support and the Lymphoedema Support Network provide more information and can put men in touch with local support groups.

Anaemia

Anaemia may occur where bone marrow is damaged – this may be because of the prostate cancer itself, nutritional decline, haematuria, or by treatment such as hormonal therapy, chemotherapy or radiotherapy.^{271,273,274} Symptoms may include fatigue, dyspnea, and tachycardia, these can impact on daily activities.²⁷⁴

Approximately 30% of prostate cancer patients with metastases to the bone have anaemia at the time of diagnosis, ²⁷⁴ and anaemia is the most common haematological change encountered in men receiving hormonal therapy, with prevalence varying from 9 to 37 percent. ²¹⁴ The risk increases for men receiving complete androgen blockade.

Diagnosis and treatment

Anaemia requires investigation to ascertain the cause of the disease (medullar invasion, mainly inflammatory, renal insufficiency, iron deficiency, chronic bleeding) and individualised treatment.⁴⁹ Iron supplementation must be systematic if deficiency is observed. More rarely, regular blood transfusion is required if severe anaemia is present,⁴⁹ although other treatment methods should be tried first.

The EAU Guidelines recommend that pharmacological treatment with erythropoiesis-stimulating agents might be considered in dedicated cases taking into account the possible increased risk of thrombovascular events.⁴⁹

Macmillan Cancer Support and Cancer Research UK provide more detailed patient information about anaemia.

Hypercalcaemia

In hypercalcaemia, abnormally high concentrations of calcium compounds are found in the bloodstream.¹⁸ This is rare in men with advanced prostate cancer²⁷⁵ but, should it occur, it is critical to urgently treat men that have symptomatic, moderate or severe hypercalcaemia, (adjusted serum calcium concentration greater than 3.0 mmol/L). They should be admitted to hospital or a hospice immediately if appropriate (preferably involving the person's specialist),²⁷⁶ for example where they are symptomatic, some men can be treated as outpatients.

Hypercalcaemia can be asymptomatic and can be difficult to differentiate from other symptoms of advanced cancer. Definitive diagnosis is achieved through blood tests to measure serum calcium and albumin concentrations.²⁷⁶ Symptoms can include:

- Bone pain.
- Fractures associated with underlying bone disorders (fragility fractures in hyperparathyroidism or pathological fractures in malignancy).
- Drowsiness, delirium, coma.
- Fatigue, muscle weakness.
- Impaired concentration and memory.
- Depression.
- Neurological signs (for example upper motor neurone deficits and ataxia).
- Nausea, vomiting, anorexia, weight loss.
- Constipation, abdominal pain.
- Renal colic due to renal stones.
- Polyuria, polydipsia, and dehydration (due to nephrogenic diabetes insipidus).
- Renal impairment (due to nephrocalcinosis).
- Hypertension.
- Shortened QT interval on electrocardiogram (ECG).
- Cardiac arrhythmias (rare).
- Itching, keratitis, conjunctivitis, and corneal calcification

Management

For men with asymptomatic, mild hypercalcaemia (adjusted serum calcium concentration

3.0 mmol/L or less), hospital admission may not be necessary, although further specialist advice should be sought. Men should be provided with further information about maintaining sufficient hydration (drinking 3–4 L of fluid per day), provided there are no contraindications (such as severe renal impairment or heart failure). Following a low calcium diet is not necessary, but men should be encouraged to avoid any medicines or vitamin supplements that could exacerbate the hypercalcaemia. Men should also be encouraged to be mobile, where possible and advised to report any further symptoms.

Men with symptomatic hypercalcaemia, or moderate or severe hypercalcaemia should be admitted to a hospital or a hospice and treated with intravaneous fluids and bisphosphonates can help treat hypercalcaemia. Bisphosphonates effectively lower calcium in the blood and usually start to work in two to four days. Another dose of bisphosphonates can be administered after a week if necessary. Regular blood tests are required to monitor calcium levels.

Eating problems

Advanced prostate cancer may be associated with reduced appetite, weight loss and nausea. 257

Reduced food intake and metabolic changes can create a negative energy balance and skeletal muscle in cancer patients generally, this may be as a result of the tumour/s or side effects of cancer treatments.²⁷⁸

Management

Management is important as malnutrition is associated with increased mortality in elderly cancer patients.²⁷⁹

Treatment may include medication:

- Megesterol acetate is usually effective after one to two weeks and can increase food intake and improve well-being.²⁵⁷
- Corticosteroids, ²⁸⁰ can have antiemetic and analgesic properties, but are short lived as appetite stimulants and have unpleasant medium-to-long-term side effects. ²⁵⁷
- Antiemetics for nausea (as well as treating underlying causes such as autonomic failure, gastroparesis, constipation and the use of strong opioids).²⁵⁷

Additionally, men can be referred to a dietitian who can recommend appropriate interventions, for example nutrition counselling focusing on the best ways to maintain or increase energy and protein intake with normal food.²⁷⁸ Oral nutritional supplements may be required in some cases.²⁷⁸

Men may be able to self-manage by finding out about dietary changes to minimise symptoms like nausea and maximise energy intake. Macmillan Cancer Support and World Cancer Research Fund have more information on this.

Lower gastrointestinal problems

Bowel problems in advanced prostate cancer can include constipation, diarrhoea, flatulence, faecal urgency and incontinence, pain in the abdomen or rectum and bowel obstruction. These may be late effects of radiotherapy, ^{149,281} side effects of medication such as morphine and codeine as well as the result of reduced mobility, dietary changes and reduction in fluid intake.

In some rare cases, prostate cancer may spread to the rectum^{18,271,282} and is associated with symptoms including constipation, pain, bleeding and, rarely, inability to empty the bowels.¹⁸

Management

For general management of bowel problems see section 3.4. Additionally, referral to a local continence service is recommended for further support.

Treatment for constipation can include dietary/lifestyle measures (such as a high fibre diet, adequate fluid intake and exercise), laxatives, and in cases where constipation or bowel obstruction is caused by prostate cancer, radiotherapy to the bowel may be recommended. Complete obstruction of the lower bowel may require a defunctioning colostomy.

Obstructive uropathy

Prostate cancer may result in unilateral or bilateral obstruction of the ureters resulting in impaired renal function.¹⁸ The development of obstructive uropathy in men with hormone-relapsed prostate cancer is a frequent, potentially fatal, event.¹⁸

Signs and symptoms of urinary tract obstruction depend largely on the degree, time course, and anatomic level of obstruction:²⁸³

- Lower urinary tract obstruction can result in urinary urgency, frequency, decreased force of stream, or incomplete bladder emptying.
- Acute upper tract obstruction symptoms may include severe flank pain, nausea, and vomiting.
- Complete obstruction of the urethra, both ureters, or unilateral obstruction of a solitary kidney may result in failure of the kidneys to produce urine.
- Extrinsic compression of the urinary system is more commonly a chronic process with a slow progression to renal insufficiency. Consequently, patients often present with vague symptoms such as back pain, anorexia, lethargy, and/or mental status changes.
- In advanced prostate cancer, urinary tract obstruction may also be relatively asymptomatic, with hydronephrosis being discovered as an incidental finding during a workup for renal insufficiency. In some cases, a urinary tract infection may be the main symptom.

Management

Decompression with external placement of a nephrostomy tube under local anaesthetic or the internal insertion of a double J stent from the bladder to the kidney under general anaesthetic.¹⁸ Medical intervention such as high-dose steroids have also shown promise.¹⁸

3.9 Support for men at the end of life

Some men will die from their prostate cancer but many will die from other diseases whilst they have prostate cancer. NICE recommend identifying when men are close to death and ensuring that symptom relief and generic or specialist palliative care is available to all. The effective management of symptoms at the end of life, in all care settings, is supported by the use of appropriate care pathways and other relevant guidance and models that facilitate the quality of care at the end of life.

- Gold Standards Framework
- <u>Care of dying adults in the last days of life</u> (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2015)
- <u>Improving supportive and palliative care for adults with cancer</u>' (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2004)

Specific needs:

Men with prostate cancer and their loved ones may want to know how long they have left to live and what to expect at the end of life.⁶ Although it may be difficult to give precise timeframes, some idea of where the cancer has spread to and what problems it may cause may mean that men can be better prepared.

Men can be referred to Prostate Cancer UK's information on what to expect.

Additionally, it's important that men with advanced prostate cancer have the opportunity to think about how, and where, they will be cared for at the end of life and can access advice on advanced care planning, practical affairs, making wills and funeral plans. This may enable them to feel more prepared and confident about making decisions, ^{284–286} ensure they get the support they need²⁸⁴ and make things easier for their family and friends. ²⁶³

Men can be referred to Prostate Cancer UK's information on planning ahead.

"I've basically said I'm not going to put my head under the pillow and just let things happen. We've subsequently currently sorted our wills out, our executer knows everything that he needs to know, they've got keys ... it's all ... oh I've got a funeral plan. All of that has been done. And erm, I think because we've done all that, that's helped me to deal with it. Because I know that my wife's going to be ok." 287

Jack, 72, living with advanced prostate cancer

Psychological needs should also be addressed. Some men may experience anxiety, grief, anger and frustration when given a terminal prognosis.²⁶³ It can be difficult for men to think about death and some may not want to dwell on it or make plans.⁶ Men may worry about upsetting their family and friends.⁶

See section on psychological support for care men and their partners should receive. Additionally, all patients with cancer and their carers should have access to different forms of spiritual support, appropriate to their needs.^{39 27}

Men can be referred to Prostate Cancer UK's information on <u>thoughts and feeling for men dying from prostate cancer.</u>

Those caring for loved ones at the end of life should also be offered practical and emotional support, which should extend into the bereavement phase.²⁸⁵

Useful resources:

Dying Matters <u>directory of services.</u>
Download or order <u>End of life: a guide</u> from Marie Curie Cancer Care and Macmillan Cancer Support.

<u>National Council for Palliative Care</u>

<u>Cruse bereavement care</u>

3.10 List of resources for health professionals to signpost men to

Physical concerns

Exercise and diet

A healthy lifestyle can give men more control over their health and help them improve it. It can also help them to manage the effects of prostate cancer and its treatment. There is also strong evidence that being overweight increases the risk of aggressive or advanced prostate cancer, and may increase the risk of recurrence or progression after treatment.

Read more in our booklet: <u>Living with and after prostate cancer:</u> A guide to physical, emotional and practical issues

Further information is available in our factsheet: <u>Diet and physical activity for men with prostate</u> cancer.

Managing pain

Not all men with prostate cancer have pain. However, when it does occur, the best ways to treat it depend on a number of things including what's causing the pain, general health, how men are feeling emotionally, and what sort of things they do in their daily lives. Pain may be a sign of cancer progression, so it may be important to review cancer treatment.

Read more in our booklet: <u>Living with and after prostate cancer</u>: A guide to physical, emotional and <u>practical issues</u>

Further information is available in our factsheet: Managing pain in advanced prostate cancer

Emotional concerns

Men living with a diagnosis of prostate cancer may experience a range of emotions, some of which are discussed below.

Patients' emotional needs should be considered at all stages of their diagnosis, treatment and ongoing care, and a referral for specialist psychological support made as appropriate. The emotional needs of partners and carers should also routinely be considered and support or respite care offered as appropriate.

Worry, fear or anxiety

Living with prostate cancer can be difficult to deal with emotionally as well as physically, and many men will feel anxious and worried at times.

Feelings of depression

Men can experience changes in themselves such as feeling down, altered sleep patterns and appetite changes, or becoming angry more easily.

Feelings of isolation

Men may feel isolated, especially if their treatment has finished and they're no longer seeing their

doctor or nurse.

Difficulty or reluctance to make plans

It's natural to find it difficult and upsetting to think about the future – particularly if men have advanced prostate cancer. Many men with advanced cancer will have treatment that will control their cancer for many months or years but it can be a worrying time. An open and honest discussion about a man's outlook to help with these worries could be helpful, if the man wishes to have this discussion.

Inability to express feelings

It can be difficult for men to discuss their feelings, but a lot of men find that talking about how they feel can help. Some men get support from talking to their family and friends, but not everyone will want to share their feelings with those close to them and professional support may be more appropriate.

Anger or frustration

Men respond in all kinds of ways to being diagnosed and living with prostate cancer. There is no right way to think and feel.

Read more in our booklet: <u>Living with and after prostate cancer:</u> A guide to physical, emotional and practical issues

Men can find out more about planning ahead and the support available in our booklet: Advanced prostate cancer: Managing symptoms and getting support and on our website at prostatecanceruk.org/plan-ahead

Our Specialist Nurses can answer men's questions and discuss their diagnosis and treatment options on 0800 074 838.

Consider a referral to counselling services or if they need immediate help ring the Samaritans. Support is also available in local cancer support centres.

Men can join one of our local support groups and meet others affected by the disease; more information is available at prostatecanceruk.org/get-support/support-groups

Men can also speak to others living with prostate cancer through our one-to-one support service, more information is available at prostatecanceruk.org/get-support/one-to-one-support

They can also join our online community at prostatecanceruk.org/online-community

Information and support for mental health issues such as depression or anxiety is available from the charity Mind at www.mind.org.uk

Information and support for anyone affected by mental health problems is available from the charity Sane at www.sane.org.uk

Men can also find information on how to look after themselves from:

Macmillan Cancer Support Maggie's Centres Penny Brohn Cancer Care

Relationship concerns

Partners

Men and their partners might need particular support for relationship and sexual issues. Prostate cancer can change the normal pattern of men's lives and affect relationships, friendships and roles within the family.

More information is available in our resources including:

Living with and after prostate cancer: A guide to physical, emotional and practical issues
When you're close to a man with prostate cancer: A guide for partners and family
Prostate cancer and your sex life (booklet and DVD)
Prostate facts for gay and bisexual men

Support for carers

Relationship changes and sexual issues can cause distress in partners as well as patients, and partners may need particular support for these issues. If a partner or carer is providing ongoing care, respite care might be considered.

More information is available in our resources including:

When you're close to a man with prostate cancer: A guide for partners and family Prostate cancer and your sex life (booklet and DVD)

Advanced prostate cancer: Managing symptoms and getting support <u>and on our website at prostatecanceruk.org/plan-ahead</u>

Supporting someone who is approaching the end of their life

Macmillan Cancer Support: <u>Supporting carers of people with cancer: Practical guidance for</u> healthcare professionals

Macmillan Cancer Support: Looking after someone with cancer

The charity Relate provides relationship counselling and a range of other relationship support services, more information is available at www.relate.org.uk

Children

It can be difficult and upsetting to talk to children or grandchildren about cancer. What they'll need to know and how they will react will depend on their age.

Read more in our booklet: When you're close to a man with prostate cancer: A guide for partners and family

Macmillan Cancer Support: Talking to children and teenagers when an adult has cancer

For more information on talking to children about cancer, visit Winston's Wish at winstonswish.org.uk/

Other relatives/friends

Friends and family can provide a good support network for men living with prostate cancer. This might be practical support or having someone to talk to about how they feel.

Read more in our booklet When you're close to a man with prostate cancer: A guide for partners and family

Support for single men

Not all men will have a support network at home and will require access to the emotional and practical support they need.

Read more in our booklet: <u>Living with and after prostate cancer:</u> A guide to physical, emotional and practical issues

Men can speak to their GP, hospital doctor or nurse. Our Specialist Nurses are available to talk things through on 0800 074 838.

Practical concerns

Help at home

An occupational therapist may be able to advise about practical things that can help make living at home easier. They can suggest changes to the home, or special equipment that can help with everyday tasks. The social services department or a GP can make a referral to an occupational therapist.

Men may also be able to get help from a home care worker. Home care workers include care assistants, who can help with housework and shopping, and personal care assistants, who can help with tasks like getting washed and dressed.

Not all local areas provide or pay for the same services. Men should speak to their GP, nurse or local social services about what practical support is available for them.

Financial concerns

There is support available for men who are struggling with the financial costs of cancer, or if their income has changed.

Read more in our booklet: When you're close to a man with prostate cancer: A guide for partners and family

More information on sick pay, benefits, costs and financial management is available in our booklet: Living with and after prostate cancer: A guide to physical, emotional and practical issues

Advanced prostate cancer: Managing symptoms and getting support

and on our website at prostatecanceruk.org/plan-ahead

<u>Macmillan Financial Guidance Service</u> and <u>Financial Support Tool</u>

<u>Macmillan Financial Guidance referral checklist</u> – Use this to refer a patient to the Financial Guidance Service. Also includes helpful questions HCPs can use when talking to people about money worries.

Work concerns (time off, modifications or returning to work)

Prostate cancer can affect men's working lives as they may need to take time off for treatments. This includes time for travelling to hospital and, for some men, time to recover.

Read more in our booklet: When you're close to a man with prostate cancer: A guide for partners and family

More information on support for men in the workplace is available in our booklets: Living with and after prostate cancer: A guide to physical, emotional and practical issues

Advanced prostate cancer: Managing symptoms and getting support and on our website at prostatecanceruk.org/plan-ahead

Macmillan Cancer Support: <u>Work support route guide</u> This booklet is designed to help health professionals talk to people with cancer about work, their options and rights.

Macmillan Cancer Support: <u>The Work and Cancer Toolkit</u> for HR and Occupational Health Professionals

Insurance

Some men find it harder to get travel insurance because of their prostate cancer.

Our fact sheet, <u>Travel and prostate cancer</u>, gives tips on buying travel insurance.

Macmillan provides a comprehensive list of travel insurance providers.

Planning for the future

Men often find that making plans helps them to feel more prepared for what the future may hold, both for themselves and for their loved ones. This may include advance care planning, making a lasting power of attorney, and making a Will and funeral plan.

More information is available in our booklet <u>Advanced prostate cancer: Managing symptoms and getting support and on our website at prostatecanceruk.org/plan-ahead</u>

For men approaching their end of life, information on planning for the future and advice on talking about dying is available from Dying Matters at dyingmatters.org

Travelling to hospital appointments

Men might be able to get help with the costs of travel to and from hospital, and some other medical costs.

More information is available in our booklets: <u>Living with and after prostate cancer: A guide to physical, emotional and practical issues</u>

More information is available in our booklet <u>Advanced prostate cancer: Managing symptoms and getting support and on our website at prostatecanceruk.org/plan-ahead</u>

Social concerns

Some men with prostate cancer may find everyday tasks more difficult. This could be because of side effects, pain, or because they find it harder to move about.

Read more in our booklet: <u>Living with and after prostate cancer</u>: A guide to physical, emotional and <u>practical issues</u>

More information on extra help in the home, driving and public transport is available in our booklets:

<u>Living with and after prostate cancer: A guide to physical, emotional and practical issues</u> <u>Advanced prostate cancer: Managing symptoms and getting support</u>

References

- 1. Prostate cancer statistics [Internet]. Cancer Research UK. 2015 [cited 2017 Nov 7]. Available from: http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/statistics-by-cancer-type/prostate-cancer
- 2. Ream E, Quennell A, Fincham L, Faithfull S, Khoo V, Wilson-Barnett J, et al. Supportive care needs of men living with prostate cancer in England: a survey. Br J Cancer. 2008 Jun 17;98(12):1903–9.
- 3. Paterson C, Robertson A, Smith A, Nabi G. Identifying the unmet supportive care needs of men living with and beyond prostate cancer: A systematic review. Eur J Oncol Nurs Off J Eur Oncol Nurs Soc. 2015 Aug;19(4):405–18.
- 4. De Sousa A, Sonavane S, Mehta J. Psychological aspects of prostate cancer: a clinical review. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis. 2012 Jun;15(2):120–7.
- 5. Watson E, Shinkins B, Frith E, Neal D, Hamdy F, Walter F, et al. Symptoms, unmet needs, psychological well-being and health status in survivors of prostate cancer: implications for redesigning follow-up. BJU Int. 2016 Jun;117(6B):E10-19.
- 6. Rich picture People with cancer [Internet]. Macmillan Cancer Support; 2015 [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: http://www.macmillan.org.uk/_images/People-with-cancer_tcm9-282792.pdf
- 7. Droz J-P, Balducci L, Bolla M, Emberton M, Fitzpatrick JM, Joniau S, et al. Management of prostate cancer in older men: recommendations of a working group of the International Society of Geriatric Oncology. BJU Int. 2010 Aug;106(4):462–9.
- 8. Snowden A, White C. Assessment and care planning for cancer survivors: A concise evidence review [Internet]. Macmillan Cancer Support; 2014 [cited 2017 Jun 12]. Available from: http://www.macmillan.org.uk/_images/assessment-and-care-planning-for-cancer-survivors_tcm9-297790.pdf
- 9. Achieving world class cancer outcomes: A strategy for England 2015-2020 [Internet]. Independent Cancer Taskforce; 2015 [cited 2017 Apr 24]. Available from: http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/sites/default/files/achieving_world-class_cancer_outcomes_-_a_strategy_for_england_2015-2020.pdf
- 10. Faithfull S, Cockle-Hearne J, Khoo V. Self-management after prostate cancer treatment: evaluating the feasibility of providing a cognitive and behavioural programme for lower urinary tract symptoms. BJU Int. 2011 Mar;107(5):783–90.
- 11. Mosher CE, Fuemmeler BF, Sloane R, Kraus WE, Lobach DF, Snyder DC, et al. Change in self-efficacy partially mediates the effects of the FRESH START intervention on cancer survivors' dietary outcomes. Psychooncology. 2008 Oct;17(10):1014–23.
- 12. Campbell LC, Keefe FJ, Scipio C, McKee DC, Edwards CL, Herman SH, et al. Facilitating research participation and improving quality of life for African American

- prostate cancer survivors and their intimate partners. A pilot study of telephone-based coping skills training. Cancer. 2007 Jan 15;109(2 Suppl):414–24.
- 13. Stull VB, Snyder DC, Demark-Wahnefried W. Lifestyle interventions in cancer survivors: designing programs that meet the needs of this vulnerable and growing population. J Nutr. 2007 Jan;137(1 Suppl):243S–248S.
- 14. Richards M, Corner J, Maher J. The National Cancer Survivorship Initiative: new and emerging evidence on the ongoing needs of cancer survivors. Br J Cancer. 2011 Nov 8;105 Suppl 1:S1-4.
- 15. Macmillan Cancer Support. Recovery Package [Internet]. Macmillan. [cited 2017 Nov 7]. Available from: http://www.macmillan.org.uk/about-us/health-professionals/programmes-and-services/recovery-package
- 16. National Cancer Survivor Initiative [Internet]. Macmillan Cancer Support & NHS Improvement; 2010 [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130124053115/http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/@ps/documents/digitalasset/dh_111477.pdf
- 17. Cockle-Hearne J, Charnay-Sonnek F, Denis L, Fairbanks HE, Kelly D, Kav S, et al. The impact of supportive nursing care on the needs of men with prostate cancer: a study across seven European countries. Br J Cancer. 2013 Oct 15;109(8):2121–30.
- 18. Prostate cancer: diagnosis and management [Internet]. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2014 [cited 2017 Jul 18]. Report No.: 175. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg175
- 19. Implementing the cancer taskforce recommendations: Commissioning person centered care for people affected by cancer [Internet]. NHS England; 2016 [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/cancer-guid-v1.pdf
- 20. Hampered by Hormones? [Internet]. Prostate Cancer UK; 2009 [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: https://www.cancernurse.eu/documents/newsletter/2009winter/EONSNewsletter2009winterPage26.pdf
- 21. Cockle-Hearne J, Faithfull S. Self-management for men surviving prostate cancer: a review of behavioural and psychosocial interventions to understand what strategies can work, for whom and in what circumstances. Psychooncology. 2010 Sep;19(9):909–22.
- 22. Clinical Nurse Specialist (CNS) workforce [Internet]. Prostate Cancer UK. [cited 2017 Apr 24]. Available from: https://prostatecanceruk.org/for-health-professionals/our-projects/clinical-nurse-specialist-cns-workforce
- 23. Making the Case for Information The evidence for investing in high quality health information for patients and the public [Internet]. Patient Information Forum; 2013. Available from: https://www.pifonline.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/PiF-Casefor-Information-Report-Final-Full-Report.pdf

- 24. Duman M, Farringont S, Kerr R, P N. Is knowledge power? Using information and support to empower patients [Internet]. Patient Information Forum; 2015. Available from: https://www.pifonline.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/Is-knowledge-power.-Using-information-and-support-to-empower-patients..pdf
- 25. Infurna FJ, Gerstorf D, Ram N. The nature and correlates of change in depressive symptoms with cancer diagnosis: reaction and adaptation. Psychol Aging. 2013 Jun;28(2):386–401.
- 26. Watts S, Leydon G, Birch B, Prescott P, Lai L, Eardley S, et al. Depression and anxiety in prostate cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prevalence rates. BMJ Open. 2014 Mar 13;4(3):e003901.
- 27. Improving Supportive and Palliative Care for Adults with Cancer [Internet]. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2004 [cited 2017 Apr 24]. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/csg4/evidence/full-guideline-pdf-2188919341
- 28. Cottenden A, Bliss D, Fader M, Getliffe K, Herrera H, Paterson J, et al. Management with Continence Products. In: Wilde M, editor. 5th International Consultation on Incontinence [Internet]. Health Publications Ltd. In press; 2013 [cited 2017 Nov 7]. p. 149–254. Available from: https://www.ics.org/Publications/ICI_3/v1.pdf/chap4.pdf
- 29. Improving supportive and palliative care for adults with cancer [Internet]. National Institute of Health and Care Excellence; 2004 [cited 2017 Apr 24]. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/csg4/evidence/full-guideline-pdf-2188919341
- 30. Chambers SK, Pinnock C, Lepore SJ, Hughes S, O'Connell DL. A systematic review of psychosocial interventions for men with prostate cancer and their partners. Patient Educ Couns. 2011 Nov;85(2):e75-88.
- 31. Steginga SK, Pinnock C, Gardner M, Gardiner RAF, Dunn J. Evaluating peer support for prostate cancer: the Prostate Cancer Peer Support Inventory. BJU Int. 2005 Jan;95(1):46–50.
- 32. Chambers SK, Dunn J, Lazenby M, Clutton S, Newton RU, Cormie P, et al. PROSCARE: A PSYCHOLOGICAL CARE MODEL FOR MEN WITH PROSTATE CANCER [Internet]. Prostate Cancer Foundation of Australia; 2013 [cited 2017 Apr 24]. Available from: http://www.prostate.org.au/media/195765/proscare_monograph_final_2013.pdf
- 33. Sanda MG, Dunn RL, Michalski J, Sandler HM, Northouse L, Hembroff L, et al. Quality of Life and Satisfaction with Outcome among Prostate-Cancer Survivors. N Engl J Med. 2008 Mar 20;358(12):1250–61.
- 34. Prostate cancer essentials: Information and support [Internet]. Prostate Cancer UK. [cited 2017 Apr 24]. Available from: https://prostatecanceruk.org/for-health-professionals/online-learning/courses-and-modules/components/modules/prostate-cancer-essentials-supportive-care/information-and-support
- 35. Lehto U-S, Tenhola H, Taari K, Aromaa A. Patients' perceptions of the negative effects following different prostate cancer treatments and the impact on psychological well-being: a nationwide survey. Br J Cancer. 2017 Mar 28;116(7):864–73.

- 36. Men's views on quality care in prostate cancer [Internet]. Prostate Cancer UK; p. 2012. Available from:

 http://prostatecanceruk.org/media/2491129/prostate_cancer_uk_quality_care_survey_r
 eport_june_2012.pdf
- 37. Olsson CE, Alsadius D, Pettersson N, Tucker SL, Wilderäng U, Johansson K-A, et al. Patient-reported sexual toxicity after radiation therapy in long-term prostate cancer survivors. Br J Cancer. 2015 Sep 1;113(5):802–8.
- 38. Mazur DJ, Merz JF. Older patients' willingness to trade off urologic adverse outcomes for a better chance at five-year survival in the clinical setting of prostate cancer. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1995 Sep;43(9):979–84.
- 39. Paterson J. Stigma associated with postprostatectomy urinary incontinence. J Wound Ostomy Cont Nurs Off Publ Wound Ostomy Cont Nurses Soc. 2000 May;27(3):168–73.
- 40. Resendes LA, McCorkle R. Spousal responses to prostate cancer: an integrative review. Cancer Invest. 2006 Mar;24(2):192–8.
- 41. Kirschner-Hermanns R, Jakse G. Quality of life following radical prostatectomy. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2002 Aug;43(2):141–51.
- 42. Sharpley CF, Bitsika V, Christie DRH. Understanding the causes of depression among prostate cancer patients: development of the Effects of Prostate Cancer on Lifestyle Questionnaire. Psychooncology. 2009 Feb;18(2):162–8.
- 43. Get back on track: tailored support to help manage fatigue [Internet]. Prostate Cancer UK & King's College London; 2013. Available from: http://prostatecanceruk.org/media/2490712/get-back-on-track-project-report.pdf
- 44. Prostate Cancer UK. Erectile Dysfunction After Prostate Cancer Treatment. 2014.
- 45. Ervik B, Asplund K. Dealing with a troublesome body: a qualitative interview study of men's experiences living with prostate cancer treated with endocrine therapy. Eur J Oncol Nurs Off J Eur Oncol Nurs Soc. 2012 Apr;16(2):103–8.
- 46. Mottet N, Bellmunt J, Briers E, Bolla M, Cornford P, De Santis M, et al. Guidelines on prostate cancer. European Association of Urology; 2016.
- 47. Navon L, Morag A. Advanced prostate cancer patients' ways of coping with the hormonal therapy's effect on body, sexuality, and spousal ties. Qual Health Res. 2003 Dec;13(10):1378–92.
- 48. Rhee H, Gunter JH, Heathcote P, Ho K, Stricker P, Corcoran NM, et al. Adverse effects of androgen-deprivation therapy in prostate cancer and their management. BJU Int. 2015 Apr;115 Suppl 5:3–13.
- 49. Oliffe J. Embodied masculinity and androgen deprivation therapy. Sociol Health Illn. 2006 May;28(4):410–32.

- 50. Mottet N, Bellmunt J, Briers E, van den Bergh RCN, Bolla M, van Casteren NJ, et al. Guidelines on Prostate Cancer [Internet]. European Association of Urology; 2015 [cited 2017 Jul 11]. Available from: https://uroweb.org/wp-content/uploads/09-Prostate-Cancer_LR.pdf
- 51. Penedo FJ, Benedict C, Zhou ES, Rasheed M, Traeger L, Kava BR, et al. Association of stress management skills and perceived stress with physical and emotional well-being among advanced prostrate cancer survivors following androgen deprivation treatment. J Clin Psychol Med Settings. 2013 Mar;20(1):25–32.
- 52. Resnick MJ, Penson DF. Quality of life with advanced metastatic prostate cancer. Urol Clin North Am. 2012 Nov;39(4):505–15.
- 53. Galvão DA, Taaffe DR, Spry N, Joseph D, Newton RU. Combined resistance and aerobic exercise program reverses muscle loss in men undergoing androgen suppression therapy for prostate cancer without bone metastases: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2010 Jan 10;28(2):340–7.
- 54. Thorsen L, Courneya KS, Stevinson C, Fosså SD. A systematic review of physical activity in prostate cancer survivors: outcomes, prevalence, and determinants. Support Care Cancer Off J Multinatl Assoc Support Care Cancer. 2008 Sep;16(9):987–97.
- 55. Campbell A, Foster J, Stevinson C, Cavill N. The importance of physical activity for people living with and beyond cancer: A concise evidence review [Internet]. Macmillan Cancer Support; 2012 [cited 2017 Apr 24]. Available from: http://www.macmillan.org.uk/documents/aboutus/commissioners/physicalactivityevide ncereview.pdf
- 56. Keogh JWL, MacLeod RD. Body composition, physical fitness, functional performance, quality of life, and fatigue benefits of exercise for prostate cancer patients: a systematic review. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2012 Jan;43(1):96–110.
- 57. Davies NJ, Batehup L, Thomas R. The role of diet and physical activity in breast, colorectal, and prostate cancer survivorship: a review of the literature. Br J Cancer. 2011 Nov 8;105 Suppl 1:S52-73.
- 58. Baumann FT, Zopf EM, Bloch W. Clinical exercise interventions in prostate cancer patients--a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Support Care Cancer Off J Multinatl Assoc Support Care Cancer. 2012 Feb;20(2):221–33.
- 59. Wolin KY, Luly J, Sutcliffe S, Andriole GL, Kibel AS. Risk of urinary incontinence following prostatectomy: the role of physical activity and obesity. J Urol. 2010 Feb;183(2):629–33.
- 60. Treating erectile dysfunction after surgery for pelvic cancers: A quick guide for health professionals supporting men with erectile dysfunction [Internet]. Prostate Cancer UK; 2014 [cited 2017 Apr 24]. Available from: https://prostatecanceruk.org/media/2491352/treating-ed-after-surgery-for-pelvic-cancers.pdf
- 61. Pettersson A, Johansson B, Persson C, Berglund A, Turesson I. Effects of a dietary intervention on acute gastrointestinal side effects and other aspects of health-related

- quality of life: a randomized controlled trial in prostate cancer patients undergoing radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol J Eur Soc Ther Radiol Oncol. 2012 Jun;103(3):333–40.
- 62. Henson CC, Burden S, Davidson SE, Lal S. Nutritional interventions for reducing gastrointestinal toxicity in adults undergoing radical pelvic radiotherapy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013 Nov 26;(11):CD009896.
- 63. Wedlake LJ, Shaw C, Whelan K, Andreyev HJN. Systematic review: the efficacy of nutritional interventions to counteract acute gastrointestinal toxicity during therapeutic pelvic radiotherapy. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2013 Jun;37(11):1046–56.
- 64. Kenfield SA, Stampfer MJ, Chan JM, Giovannucci E. Smoking and prostate cancer survival and recurrence. JAMA. 2011 Jun 22;305(24):2548–55.
- 65. Moreira DM, Aronson WJ, Terris MK, Kane CJ, Amling CL, Cooperberg MR, et al. Cigarette smoking is associated with an increased risk of biochemical disease recurrence, metastasis, castration-resistant prostate cancer, and mortality after radical prostatectomy: results from the SEARCH database. Cancer. 2014 Jan 15;120(2):197–204.
- 66. Solanki AA, Liauw SL. Tobacco use and external beam radiation therapy for prostate cancer: Influence on biochemical control and late toxicity. Cancer. 2013 Aug 1;119(15):2807–14.
- 67. Abrahamsen B, Brask-Lindemann D, Rubin KH, Schwarz P. A review of lifestyle, smoking and other modifiable risk factors for osteoporotic fractures. BoneKEy Rep [Internet]. 2014 Sep 3 [cited 2017 Apr 24];3. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4162465/
- 68. O'Brien R, Rose P, Campbell C, Weller D, Neal RD, Wilkinson C, et al. 'I wish I'd told them': a qualitative study examining the unmet psychosexual needs of prostate cancer patients during follow-up after treatment. Patient Educ Couns. 2011 Aug;84(2):200–7.
- 69. Gray RE, Fitch M, Phillips C, Labrecque M, Fergus K. Managing the Impact of Illness: The Experiences of Men with Prostate Cancer and their Spouses. J Health Psychol. 2000 Jul 1;5(4):531–48.
- 70. O'Brien R, Hart GJ, Hunt K. 'Standing out from the herd': men renegotiating masculinity in relation to their experience of illness. Int J Mens Health. 2007;6(3):178–200.
- 71. Gott M, Galena E, Hinchliff S, Elford H. 'Opening a can of worms': GP and practice nurse barriers to talking about sexual health in primary care. Fam Pract. 2004 Oct;21(5):528–36.
- 72. Flynn KE, Reese JB, Jeffery DD, Abernethy AP, Lin L, Shelby RA, et al. Patient experiences with communication about sex during and after treatment for cancer. Psychooncology. 2012 Jun;21(6):594–601.
- 73. Sex, relationships and prostate cancer [Internet]. Prostate Cancer UK. [cited 2017 Apr 24]. Available from: https://prostatecanceruk.org/for-health-professionals/online-

- learning/courses- and-modules/components/modules/sex- and-prostate-cancer/sex- and-relationships
- 74. Knight SJ, Latini DM. Sexual Side Effects and Prostate Cancer Treatment Decisions: Patient Information Needs and Preferences. Cancer J. 2009 Jan 1;15(1):41–4.
- 75. Zhou ES, Bober SL, Nekhlyudov L, Hu JC, Kantoff PW, Recklitis CJ. Physical and emotional health information needs and preferences of long-term prostate cancer survivors. Patient Educ Couns. 2016 Dec;99(12):2049–54.
- 76. Canada AL, Neese LE, Sui D, Schover LR. Pilot intervention to enhance sexual rehabilitation for couples after treatment for localized prostate carcinoma. Cancer. 2005 Dec 15;104(12):2689–700.
- 77. Goonewardene SS, Symons M, McCormack G, Makar A. The Worcestershire Prostate Cancer Survivorship Programme: A new concept for holistic long-term support and follow-up. J Am Coll Surg. 2012 Sep 1;215(3):S143.
- 78. Bourke L, Gilbert S, Hooper R, Steed L, Joshi M, Catto J, et al. Lifestyle changes for improving disease-specific quality of life in sedentary men on long-term androgen-deprivation therapy for advanced prostate cancer: a randomised controlled trial. Eur Urol. 2014 May;65(5):865–72.
- 79. Namiki S, Ishidoya S, Ito A, Arai Y. The impact of sexual desire on sexual health related quality of life following radical prostatectomy: A 5-year follow up study in Japan. Eur Urol Suppl. 2012 Feb 1;11(1):e671.
- 80. Pavlovich CP, Levinson AW, Su L-M, Mettee LZ, Feng Z, Bivalacqua TJ, et al. Nightly vs on-demand sildenafil for penile rehabilitation after minimally invasive nerve-sparing radical prostatectomy: results of a randomized double-blind trial with placebo. BJU Int. 2013 Oct;112(6):844–51.
- 81. Miller DC, Wei JT, Dunn RL, Montie JE, Pimentel H, Sandler HM, et al. Use of medications or devices for erectile dysfunction among long-term prostate cancer treatment survivors: potential influence of sexual motivation and/or indifference. Urology. 2006 Jul;68(1):166–71.
- 82. Hatzimouratidis K, Eardley, I, Guiliano, F, Moncada, I, Salona, A. Guidelines on Male Sexual Dysfunction [Internet]. European Association of Urology; 2015 [cited 2017 Apr 24]. Available from: http://uroweb.org/wp-content/uploads/14-Male-Sexual-Dysfunction_LR1.pdf
- 83. Treating erectile dysfunction after radical radiotherapy and androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) for prostate cancer A quick guide for health professionals: supporting men with erectile dysfunction [Internet]. Macmillan Cancer Support & Prostate Cancer UK; 2014 [cited 2017 Apr 24]. Available from: https://prostatecanceruk.org/media/2491100/3418-post-hormone-and-radiotherapy-edguide_interactive.pdf
- 84. Investigations and treatments for erectile dysfunction [Internet]. Prostate Cancer UK. n.d. [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: https://prostatecanceruk.org/for-health-

- professionals/online-learning/courses-and-modules/components/modules/sex-and-prostate-cancer/investigations-and-treatments
- 85. Rosen RC, Riley A, Wagner G, Osterloh IH, Kirkpatrick J, Mishra A. The international index of erectile function (IIEF): a multidimensional scale for assessment of erectile dysfunction. Urology. 1997 Jun;49(6):822–30.
- 86. Bella AJ, Brant WO, Lue TF. Physiology of Penile Erection and Pathophysiology of Erectile Dysfunction. In: Bertolotto M, editor. Color Doppler US of the Penis [Internet]. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 2008 [cited 2017 Nov 7]. p. 15–20. (Medical Radiology). Available from: https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-540-36677-5 3
- 87. Introduction to sex and prostate cancer [Internet]. Prostate Cancer UK. [cited 2017 Apr 24]. Available from: https://prostatecanceruk.org/for-health-professionals/online-learning/courses-and-modules/components/modules/sex-and-prostate-cancer/intro-to-sex-and-prostate-cancer
- 88. Bober SL, Varela VS. Sexuality in adult cancer survivors: challenges and intervention. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2012 Oct 20;30(30):3712–9.
- 89. Dubbelman YD, Dohle GR, Schröder FH. Sexual function before and after radical retropubic prostatectomy: A systematic review of prognostic indicators for a successful outcome. Eur Urol. 2006 Oct;50(4):711-718; discussion 718-720.
- 90. Mottet N. Guidelines on Prostate Cancer. Part 1: Screening, Diagnosis, and Local Treatment with Curative Intent. Eur Urol Vol. 71:629.
- 91. White ID, Wilson J, Aslet P, Baxter AB, Birtle A, Challacombe B, et al. Development of UK guidance on the management of erectile dysfunction resulting from radical radiotherapy and androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer. Int J Clin Pract. 2015 Jan;69(1):106–23.
- 92. Jones LW, Hornsby WE, Freedland SJ, Lane A, West MJ, Moul JW, et al. Effects of nonlinear aerobic training on erectile dysfunction and cardiovascular function following radical prostatectomy for clinically localized prostate cancer. Eur Urol. 2014 May;65(5):852–5.
- 93. Treating erectile dysfunction after radical radiotherapy and androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) for prostate cancer A quick guide for health professionals: supporting men with erectile dysfunction [Internet]. Macmillan Cancer Support & Prostate Cancer UK; 2014 [cited 2017 Apr 24]. Available from: https://prostatecanceruk.org/media/2491100/3418-post-hormone-and-radiotherapy-edguide_interactive.pdf
- 94. Northouse LL, Mood DW, Montie JE, Sandler HM, Forman JD, Hussain M, et al. Living with prostate cancer: patients' and spouses' psychosocial status and quality of life. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2007 Sep 20;25(27):4171–7.
- 95. Zelefsky MJ, Eid JF. Elucidating the etiology of erectile dysfunction after definitive therapy for prostatic cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1998 Jan 1;40(1):129–33.

- 96. Namiki S, Arai Y. Health-related quality of life in men with localized prostate cancer. Int J Urol Off J Jpn Urol Assoc. 2010 Feb;17(2):125–38.
- 97. Zaider T, Manne S, Nelson C, Mulhall J, Kissane D. Loss of masculine identity, marital affection, and sexual bother in men with localized prostate cancer. J Sex Med. 2012 Oct;9(10):2724–32.
- 98. Goonewardene SS, Nanton V, Young A, Persad R. Prostate cancer survivorship and psychosexual care. Trends Urol Mens Health. 2015 Mar 1;6(2):14–8.
- 99. Joly F, Brune D, Couette JE, Lesaunier F, Héron JF, Pény J, et al. Health-related quality of life and sequelae in patients treated with brachytherapy and external beam irradiation for localized prostate cancer. Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol. 1998 Jul;9(7):751–7.
- 100. van Heeringen C, De Schryver A, Verbeek E. Sexual function disorders after local radiotherapy for carcinoma of the prostate. Radiother Oncol J Eur Soc Ther Radiol Oncol. 1988 Sep;13(1):47–52.
- 101. Beckendorf V, Hay M, Rozan R, Lagrange JL, N'Guyen T, Giraud B. Changes in sexual function after radiotherapy treatment of prostate cancer. Br J Urol. 1996 Jan;77(1):118–23.
- 102. Caffo O, Fellin G, Graffer U, Luciani L. Assessment of quality of life after radical radiotherapy for prostate cancer. Br J Urol. 1996 Oct;78(4):557–63.
- 103. D'Amico AV, Whittington R, Malkowicz SB, Schultz D, Blank K, Broderick GA, et al. Biochemical outcome after radical prostatectomy, external beam radiation therapy, or interstitial radiation therapy for clinically localized prostate cancer. JAMA. 1998 Sep 16;280(11):969–74.
- 104. Oliffe J. Embodied masculinity and androgen deprivation therapy. Sociol Health Illn. 2006 May;28(4):410–32.
- 105. Couper JW, Bloch S, Love A, Duchesne G, Macvean M, Kissane DW. The psychosocial impact of prostate cancer on patients and their partners. Med J Aust. 2006 Oct 16;185(8):428–32.
- 106. Wooten AC. The impact of prostate cancer on partners: a qualitative exploration. Psychooncology. 2014;23:1252–1258.
- 107. Ramsey SD, Zeliadt SB, Blough DK, Moinpour CM, Hall IJ, Smith JL, et al. Impact of prostate cancer on sexual relationships: a longitudinal perspective on intimate partners' experiences. J Sex Med. 2013 Dec;10(12):3135–43.
- 108. Wassersug RJ. Maintaining intimacy for prostate cancer patients on androgen deprivation therapy. Curr Opin Support Palliat Care. 2016 Mar;10(1):55–65.
- 109. McLeod DL, Walker LM, Wassersug RJ, Matthew A, Robinson JW. The sexual and other supportive care needs of Canadian prostate cancer patients and their partners: Defining the problem and developing interventions. Can Oncol Nurs J. 2014;24(4):272–8.

- 110. Wittmann D, He C, Mitchell S, Wood DP, Hola V, Thelen-Perry S, et al. A one-day couple group intervention to enhance sexual recovery for surgically treated men with prostate cancer and their partners: a pilot study. Urol Nurs. 2013 Jun;33(3):140–7.
- 111. Naccarato AM, Reis LO, Zani EL, Cartapatti M, Denardi F. Psychotherapy: a missing piece in the puzzle of post radical prostatectomy erectile dysfunction rehabilitation. Actas Urol Esp. 2014 Aug;38(6):385–90.
- 112. Chambers SK, Occhipinti S, Schover L, Nielsen L, Zajdlewicz L, Clutton S, et al. A randomised controlled trial of a couples-based sexuality intervention for men with localised prostate cancer and their female partners. Psychooncology. 2015 Jul;24(7):748–56.
- 113. National Prostate Cancer Audit: First Year Annual Report Organisation of Services and Analysis of Existing Clinical Data [Internet]. The Royal College of Surgeons; 2014 [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: https://www.npca.org.uk/content/uploads/2014/11/NPCA-Annual-Report-FINAL-10_11_14.pdf
- 114. Tran S, Boissier R, Perrin J, Karsenty G, Lechevallier E. Review of the Different Treatments and Management for Prostate Cancer and Fertility. Urology. 2015 Nov;86(5):936–41.
- 115. The effects of cancer treatment on reproductive functions Guidance on management [Internet]. The Royal College of Radiologists; 2008 [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: https://www.rcr.ac.uk/system/files/publication/field_publication_files/Cancer_fertility_effects_Jan08.pdf
- 116. Frey AU, Sønksen J, Fode M. Neglected side effects after radical prostatectomy: a systematic review. J Sex Med. 2014 Feb;11(2):374–85.
- 117. Geraerts I, Van Poppel H, Devoogdt N, De Groef A, Fieuws S, Van Kampen M. Pelvic floor muscle training for erectile dysfunction and climacturia 1 year after nerve sparing radical prostatectomy: a randomized controlled trial. Int J Impot Res. 2016 Feb;28(1):9–13.
- 118. Lower urinary tract symptoms in men: management [Internet]. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2015. Report No.: 97. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg97
- 119. Glover L, Gannon K, McLoughlin J, Emberton M. Men's experiences of having lower urinary tract symptoms: factors relating to bother. BJU Int. 2004 Sep;94(4):563–7.
- 120. Faithfull S, Lemanska A, Aslet P, Bhatt N, Coe J, Drudge-Coates L, et al. Integrative review on the non-invasive management of lower urinary tract symptoms in men following treatments for pelvic malignancies. Int J Clin Pract. 2015 Oct;69(10):1184–208.
- 121. Kirby M, Chapple C, Jackson G. Erectile dysfunction and lower urinary tract symptoms: a consensus on the importance of co-diagnosis. Int J Clin Pr. 67(7):606–18.

- 122. Anderson CA, Omar MI, Campbell SE, Hunter KF, Cody JD, Glazener CMA. Conservative management for postprostatectomy urinary incontinence. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015 Jan 20;1:CD001843.
- 123. Ishiyama H, Hirayama T, Jhaveri P, Satoh T, Paulino AC, Xu B, et al. Is there an increase in genitourinary toxicity in patients treated with transurethral resection of the prostate and radiotherapy? A systematic review. Am J Clin Oncol. 2014 Jun;37(3):297–304.
- 124. New F, Venn S. What's new in post prostatectomy incontinence? Urology News. 2017;21(2):6–9.
- 125. Lucas MG, Bedretdinova D, Berghmans LC, Bosch LCHP, Burkhard FC, Cruz F, et al. Guidelines on Urinary Incontinence [Internet]. European Association of Urology; 2015 [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: http://uroweb.org/wp-content/uploads/20-Urinary-Incontinence_LR1.pdf
- 126. Serdà B-CF, Marcos-Gragera R. Urinary incontinence and prostate cancer: a progressive rehabilitation program design. Rehabil Nurs Off J Assoc Rehabil Nurses. 2014 Dec;39(6):271–80.
- 127. Dieperink KB, Johansen C, Hansen S, Wagner L, Andersen KK, Minet LR, et al. The effects of multidisciplinary rehabilitation: RePCa—a randomised study among primary prostate cancer patients. Br J Cancer. 2013 Dec 10;109(12):3005–13.
- 128. Sheaths [Internet]. Continence Product Advisor. n.d. [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: https://www.continenceproductadvisor.org/products/maledevices/sheaths
- 129. Moore KN, Schieman S, Ackerman T, Dzus HY, Metcalfe JB, Voaklander DC. Assessing comfort, safety, and patient satisfaction with three commonly used penile compression devices. Urology. 2004 Jan;63(1):150–4.
- 130. Penile Compression Devices [Internet]. Continence Product Advisor. n.d. [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: https://www.continenceproductadvisor.org/products/maledevices/penilecompressionde vices
- 131. Van Bruwaene S, De Ridder D, Van der Aa F. The use of sling vs sphincter in post-prostatectomy urinary incontinence. BJU Int. 2015 Sep;116(3):330–42.
- 132. Crivellaro S, Morlacco A, Bodo G, Agro' EF, Gozzi C, Pistolesi D, et al. Systematic review of surgical treatment of post radical prostatectomy stress urinary incontinence. Neurourol Urodyn. 2016 Nov;35(8):875–81.
- 133. Fischer MC, Huckabay C, Nitti VW. The male perineal sling: assessment and prediction of outcome. J Urol. 2007 Apr;177(4):1414–8.
- 134. Welk BK, Herschorn S. The male sling for post-prostatectomy urinary incontinence: a review of contemporary sling designs and outcomes. BJU Int. 2012 Feb;109(3):328–44.

- 135. Bauer RM, Bastian PJ, Gozzi C, Stief CG. Postprostatectomy incontinence: all about diagnosis and management. Eur Urol. 2009 Feb;55(2):322–33.
- 136. Romano SV, Metrebian SE, Vaz F, Muller V, D'Ancona CA, Costa DE Souza EA, et al. An adjustable male sling for treating urinary incontinence after prostatectomy: a phase III multicentre trial. BJU Int. 2006 Mar;97(3):533–9.
- 137. Ehrenpreis ED, Marsh R de W, Small Jr. W, editors. Radiation Therapy for Pelvic Malignancy and its Consequences [Internet]. New York: Springer-Verlag; [cited 2017 Jul 24]. Available from: http://www.springer.com/us/book/9781493922161
- 138. Thompson A, Adamson A, Bahl A, Borwell J, Dodds D, Heath C, et al. Guidelines for the diagnosis, prevention and management of chemical- and radiation-induced cystitis. J Clin Urol. 2014 Jan 1;7(1):25–35.
- 139. Zerbib M, Zelefsky MJ, Higano CS, Carroll PR. Conventional treatments of localized prostate cancer. Urology. 2008 Dec;72(6 Suppl):S25-35.
- 140. Jarosek SL, Virnig BA, Chu H, Elliott SP. Propensity-weighted long-term risk of urinary adverse events after prostate cancer surgery, radiation, or both. Eur Urol. 2015 Feb;67(2):273–80.
- 141. Parsons BA, Evans S, Wright MP. Prostate cancer and urinary incontinence. Maturitas. 2009 Aug 20;63(4):323–8.
- 142. Ohri N, Dicker AP, Showalter TN. Late toxicity rates following definitive radiotherapy for prostate. 2012. 6373 p.
- 143. Hamilton K, Bennett NC, Purdie G, Herst PM. Standardized cranberry capsules for radiation cystitis in prostate cancer patients in New Zealand: a randomized double blinded, placebo controlled pilot study. Support Care Cancer Off J Multinatl Assoc Support Care Cancer. 2015 Jan;23(1):95–102.
- 144. Payne H, Adamson A, Bahl A, Borwell J, Dodds D, Heath C, et al. Chemical- and radiation-induced haemorrhagic cystitis: current treatments and challenges. BJU Int. 2013 Nov;112(7):885–97.
- 145. Urinary problems after prostate cancer treatment [Internet]. Prostate Cancer UK; 2017 [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: https://prostatecanceruk.org/media/11857/urinary_problems-ifm.pdf
- 146. Newman DK, Burgio KL, Markland AD, Goode PS. Urinary Incontinence: Nonsurgical Treatments. In: Griebling T, editor. Geriatric Urology [Internet]. New York: Springer; 2014. p. 141–68. Available from: https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-1-4614-9047-0_11
- 147. Newman DK, Guzzo T, Lee D, Jayadevappa R. An evidence-based strategy for the conservative management of the male patient with incontinence. Curr Opin Urol. 2014 Nov;24(6):553–9.
- 148. How does Cystistat® work? [Internet]. Cystistat. 2017 [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: http://www.cystistat.co.uk/how-does-cystistat-work

- 149. Yahya N, Ebert MA, Bulsara M, Haworth A, Kennedy A, Joseph DJ, et al. Dosimetry, clinical factors and medication intake influencing urinary symptoms after prostate radiotherapy: An analysis of data from the RADAR prostate radiotherapy trial. Radiother Oncol J Eur Soc Ther Radiol Oncol. 2015 Jul;116(1):112–8.
- 150. Zelefsky MJ, Levin EJ, Hunt M, Yamada Y, Shippy AM, Jackson A, et al. Incidence of late rectal and urinary toxicities after three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy and intensity-modulated radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008 Mar 15;70(4):1124–9.
- 151. Budäus L, Bolla M, Bossi A, Cozzarini C, Crook J, Widmark A. Functional outcomes and complications following radiation therapy for prostate cancer: a critical analysis of the literature. Eur Urol. 2012(61):112–27.
- 152. Wallace SA, Roe B, Williams K, Palmer M. Bladder training for urinary incontinence in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2004;(1):CD001308.
- 153. Rai BP, Cody JD, Alhasso A, Stewart L. Anticholinergic drugs versus non-drug active therapies for non-neurogenic overactive bladder syndrome in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012 Dec 12;12:CD003193.
- 154. Mirabegron for treating symptoms of overactive bladder [Internet]. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2013. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta290
- 155. Habashy D, Losco G, Tse V, Collins R, Chan L. Botulinum toxin (OnabotulinumtoxinA) in the male non-neurogenic overactive bladder: clinical and quality of life outcomes. BJU Int. 2015 Oct;116 Suppl 3:61–5.
- 156. Moore DC, Cohn JA, Dmochowski RR. Use of Botulinum Toxin A in the Treatment of Lower Urinary Tract Disorders: A Review of the Literature. Toxins. 2016 Mar 23;8(4):88.
- 157. Lukka H, Waldron T, Chin J, Mayhew L, Warde P, Winquist E, et al. High-intensity focused ultrasound for prostate cancer: a systematic review. Clin Oncol R Coll Radiol G B. 2011 Mar;23(2):117–27.
- 158. Yoon PD, Chalasani V, Woo HH. Systematic review and meta-analysis on management of acute urinary retention. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis. 2015 Dec;18(4):297–302.
- 159. Gravas S, Bach T, Bachmann A, Drake M, Gacci M, Gratzke C, et al. Guidelines on the Management of Non-Neurogenic Male Lower Urinary Tract Symptoms (LUTS), incl. Benign Prostatic Obstruction (BPO) [Internet]. European Association of Urology; 2015 [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: https://uroweb.org/wp-content/uploads/EAU-Guidelines-Non-Neurogenic-Male-LUTS-Guidelines-2015-v2.pdf
- 160. Negro CLA, Muir GH. Chronic urinary retention in men: how we define it, and how does it affect treatment outcome. BJU Int. 2012 Dec;110(11):1590–4.

- 161. Jassim Y, Almallah Z. Incomplete emptying of the bladder and retention of urine. Trends Urol Gynaecol Sex Health. 2009 May 1;14(3):20–2.
- 162. Stone HB, Coleman CN, Anscher MS, McBride WH. Effects of radiation on normal tissue: consequences and mechanisms. Lancet Oncol. 2003 Sep;4(9):529–36.
- 163. Smit SG, Heyns CF. Management of radiation cystitis. Nat Rev Urol. 2010 Apr;7(4):206–14.
- 164. Denton AS, Clarke NW, Maher EJ. Non-surgical interventions for late radiation cystitis in patients who have received radical radiotherapy to the pelvis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2002;(3):CD001773.
- 165. Frazzoni L, La Marca M, Guido A, Morganti AG, Bazzoli F, Fuccio L. Pelvic radiation disease: Updates on treatment options. World J Clin Oncol. 2015 Dec 10;6(6):272–80.
- 166. Andreyev HJN, Davidson SE, Gillespie C, Allum WH, Swarbrick E, British Society of Gastroenterology, et al. Practice guidance on the management of acute and chronic gastrointestinal problems arising as a result of treatment for cancer. Gut. 2012 Feb;61(2):179–92.
- 167. Resnick MJ, Koyama T, Fan K-H, Albertsen PC, Goodman M, Hamilton AS, et al. Long-Term Functional Outcomes after Treatment for Localized Prostate Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2013 Jan 31;368(5):436–45.
- 168. Facts about Pelvic Radiation Disease in the UK [Internet]. Pelvic Radiation Disease Association. [cited 2017 Jul 25]. Available from: http://www.prda.org.uk/what-is-pelvic-radiation-disease-prd/information-health-professionals/
- 169. O'Connor KM, Fitzpatrick JM. Side-effects of treatments for locally advanced prostate cancer. BJU Int. 2006 Jan;97(1):22–8.
- 170. Morris KA, Haboubi NY. Pelvic radiation therapy: Between delight and disaster. World J Gastrointest Surg. 2015 Nov 27;7(11):279–88.
- 171. Radiotherapy and your skin [Internet]. Cancer Research UK. 2016 [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/about-cancer/cancer-ingeneral/treatment/radiotherapy/side-effects/general-radiotherapy/skin
- 172. Budäus L, Bolla M, Bossi A, Cozzarini C, Crook J, Widmark A, et al. Functional outcomes and complications following radiation therapy for prostate cancer: a critical analysis of the literature. Eur Urol. 2012 Jan;61(1):112–27.
- 173. Miller NL, Theodorescu D. Health-related quality of life after prostate brachytherapy. BJU Int. 2004 Sep 1;94(4):487–91.
- 174. Mohammed N, Kestin L, Ghilezan M, Krauss D, Vicini F, Brabbins D, et al. Comparison of acute and late toxicities for three modern high-dose radiation treatment techniques for localized prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012 Jan 1;82(1):204–12.

- 175. Van Gellekom MPR, Moerland MA, Van Vulpen M, Wijrdeman HK, Battermann JJ. Quality of life of patients after permanent prostate brachytherapy in relation to dosimetry. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005 Nov 1;63(3):772–80.
- 176. Fowler FJ, Barry MJ, Lu-Yao G, Wasson JH, Bin L. Outcomes of external-beam radiation therapy for prostate cancer: a study of Medicare beneficiaries in three surveillance, epidemiology, and end results areas. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 1996 Aug;14(8):2258–65.
- 177. Robinson JW, Moritz S, Fung T. Meta-analysis of rates of erectile function after treatment of localized prostate carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2002 Nov 15;54(4):1063–8.
- 178. Boehmer D, Badakhshi H, Kuschke W, Bohsung J, Budach V. Testicular dose in prostate cancer radiotherapy: impact on impairment of fertility and hormonal function. Strahlenther Onkol Organ Dtsch Rontgengesellschaft Al. 2005 Mar;181(3):179–84.
- 179. Chen LN, Suy S, Uhm S, Oermann EK, Ju AW, Chen V, et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for clinically localized prostate cancer: the Georgetown University experience. Radiat Oncol Lond Engl. 2013 Mar 13;8:58.
- 180. Peach MS, Showalter TN, Ohri N. Systematic Review of the Relationship between Acute and Late Gastrointestinal Toxicity after Radiotherapy for Prostate Cancer. Prostate Cancer [Internet]. 2015;2015. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4677238/
- 181. Stacey R, Green JT. Radiation-induced small bowel disease: latest developments and clinical guidance. Ther Adv Chronic Dis. 2014 Jan;5(1):15–29.
- 182. Muls AC, Watson L, Shaw C, Andreyev HJN. Managing gastrointestinal symptoms after cancer treatment: a practical approach for gastroenterologists. Frontline Gastroenterol. 2013 Jan 1;4(1):57–68.
- 183. Alsadius D, Olsson C, Pettersson N, Tucker SL, Wilderäng U, Steineck G. Patient-reported gastrointestinal symptoms among long-term survivors after radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Radiother Oncol J Eur Soc Ther Radiol Oncol. 2014 Aug;112(2):237–43.
- 184. Olopade FA, Norman A, Blake P, Dearnaley DP, Harrington KJ, Khoo V, et al. A modified Inflammatory Bowel Disease questionnaire and the Vaizey Incontinence questionnaire are simple ways to identify patients with significant gastrointestinal symptoms after pelvic radiotherapy. Br J Cancer. 2005 May 9;92(9):1663–70.
- 185. Armes J, Crowe M, Colbourne L, Morgan H, Murrells T, Oakley C, et al. Patients' supportive care needs beyond the end of cancer treatment: a prospective, longitudinal survey. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2009 Dec 20;27(36):6172–9.
- 186. Schmid MP, Pötter R, Bombosch V, Sljivic S, Kirisits C, Dörr W, et al. Late gastrointestinal and urogenital side-effects after radiotherapy Incidence and prevalence. Subgroup-analysis within the prospective Austrian–German phase II multicenter trial for localized prostate cancer. Radiother Oncol. 2012 Jul 1;104(1):114–8.

- 187. Michalski JM, Yan Y, Watkins-Bruner D, Bosch WR, Winter K, Galvin JM, et al. Preliminary toxicity analysis of 3-dimensional conformal radiation therapy versus intensity modulated radiation therapy on the high-dose arm of the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group 0126 prostate cancer trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013 Dec 1;87(5):932–8.
- 188. Andreyev HJN, Benton BE, Lalji A, Norton C, Mohammed K, Gage H, et al. Algorithm-based management of patients with gastrointestinal symptoms in patients after pelvic radiation treatment (ORBIT): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Lond Engl. 2013 Dec 21;382(9910):2084–92.
- 189. Managing Lower Gastrointestinal Problems After Cancer Treatment [Internet]. Macmillan Cancer Support; 2015 [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: http://be.macmillan.org.uk/Downloads/CancerInformation/ResourcesForHSCP/COT/MAC15384GIquickguide.pdf
- 190. Hechtman L. Clinical Naturopathic Medicine. Australia: Elsevier; 2012. 1611 p.
- 191. Tillisch K. Complementary and alternative medicine for functional gastrointestinal disorders. Gut. 2006 May;55(5):593–6.
- 192. Weiner JP, Wong AT, Schwartz D, Martinez M, Aytaman A, Schreiber D. Endoscopic and non-endoscopic approaches for the management of radiation-induced rectal bleeding. World J Gastroenterol. 2016 Aug 21;22(31):6972–86.
- 193. Rasmusson E, Gunnlaugsson A, Blom R, Björk-Eriksson T, Nilsson P, Ahlgen G, et al. Low rate of lymphedema after extended pelvic lymphadenectomy followed by pelvic irradiation of node-positive prostate cancer. Radiat Oncol Lond Engl. 2013 Nov 19:8:271.
- 194. Elliott SP, Jarosek SL, Alanee SR, Konety BR, Dusenbery KE, Virnig BA. Three-dimensional external beam radiotherapy for prostate cancer increases the risk of hip fracture. Cancer. 2011 Oct 1;117(19):4557–65.
- 195. Moon K, Stukenborg GJ, Keim J, Theodorescu D. Cancer incidence after localized therapy for prostate cancer. Cancer. 2006 Sep 1;107(5):991–8.
- 196. Murray L, Henry A, Hoskin P, Siebert F-A, Venselaar J. Second primary cancers after radiation for prostate cancer: A systematic review of the clinical data and impact of treatment technique. Radiother Oncol. 2014 Feb;110(2):213–28.
- 197. Wallis CJD, Mahar AL, Choo R, Herschorn S, Kodama RT, Shah PS, et al. Second malignancies after radiotherapy for prostate cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2016 Mar 2;352:i851.
- 198. Quality assurance practice guidelines for transperineal LDR permanent seed brachytherapy of prostate cancer [Internet]. The Royal College of Radiologists; 2012 [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: https://www.rcr.ac.uk/system/files/publication/field_publication_files/BFCO(12)4_QA _prostate.pdf

- 199. Bownes P, Coles I, Doggart A, Kehoe T. UK Guidance on Radiation Protection Issues following Permanent Iodine-125 Seed Prostate Brachytherapy [Internet]. Institute of Physics and Engineering in Medicine; 2012 [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Report No.: 106. Available from: https://www.ipem.ac.uk/Publications/UKGuidanceonRadiationProtectionIssuesfollowi.aspx
- 200. Siglin J, Kubicek GJ, Leiby B, Valicenti RK. Time of decline in sexual function after external beam radiotherapy for prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2010 Jan 1;76(1):31–5.
- 201. Servaes P, Verhagen C, Bleijenberg G. Fatigue in cancer patients during and after treatment: prevalence, correlates and interventions. Eur J Cancer Oxf Engl 1990. 2002 Jan;38(1):27–43.
- 202. Langston B, Armes J, Levy A, Tidey E, Ream E. The prevalence and severity of fatigue in men with prostate cancer: a systematic review of the literature. Support Care Cancer Off J Multinatl Assoc Support Care Cancer. 2013 Jun;21(6):1761–71.
- 203. Harden JK, Northouse LL, Mood DW. Qualitative analysis of couples' experience with prostate cancer by age cohort. Cancer Nurs. 2006 Oct;29(5):367–77.
- 204. Stone P, Hardy J, Huddart R, A'Hern R, Richards M. Fatigue in patients with prostate cancer receiving hormone therapy. Eur J Cancer Oxf Engl 1990. 2000 Jun;36(9):1134–41.
- 205. Bower JE, Bak K, Berger A, Breitbart W, Escalante CP, Ganz PA, et al. Screening, Assessment, and Management of Fatigue in Adult Survivors of Cancer: An American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline Adaptation. J Clin Oncol. 2014 Jun 10;32(17):1840–50.
- 206. James ND, Sydes MR, Clarke NW, Mason MD, Dearnaley DP, Spears MR, et al. Addition of docetaxel, zoledronic acid, or both to first-line long-term hormone therapy in prostate cancer (STAMPEDE): survival results from an adaptive, multiarm, multistage, platform randomised controlled trial. The Lancet. 2016 Mar 19;387(10024):1163–77.
- 207. Cruz Guerra NA. Outcomes from the use of maximal androgen blockade in prostate cancer at health area with reference hospital type 2 (1st part). Quality of life: application of EORTC QLQ-C30 instrument. Arch Esp Urol. 2009 Jul;62(6):431–57.
- 208. Kumar S, Shelley M, Harrison C, Coles B, Wilt TJ, Mason MD. Neo-adjuvant and adjuvant hormone therapy for localised and locally advanced prostate cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2006 Oct 18;(4):CD006019.
- 209. Shelley MD, Kumar S, Wilt T, Staffurth J, Coles B, Mason MD. A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised trials of neo-adjuvant hormone therapy for localised and locally advanced prostate carcinoma. Cancer Treat Rev. 2009 Feb;35(1):9–17.
- 210. Wu LM, Tanenbaum ML, Dijkers MPJM, Amidi A, Hall SJ, Penedo FJ, et al. Cognitive and neurobehavioral symptoms in patients with non-metastatic prostate

- cancer treated with androgen deprivation therapy or observation: A mixed methods study. Soc Sci Med 1982. 2016 May;156:80–9.
- 211. Dinh KT, Reznor G, Muralidhar V, Mahal BA, Nezolosky MD, Choueiri TK, et al. Association of Androgen Deprivation Therapy With Depression in Localized Prostate Cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2016 Jun 1;34(16):1905–12.
- 212. Dacal K, Sereika SM, Greenspan SL. Quality of life in prostate cancer patients taking androgen deprivation therapy. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2006 Jan;54(1):85–90.
- 213. Beck AM, Robinson JW, Carlson LE. Sexual intimacy in heterosexual couples after prostate cancer treatment: What we know and what we still need to learn. Urol Oncol Semin Orig Investig. 2009 Mar 1;27(2):137–43.
- 214. Hormone-sensitive metastatic prostate cancer: docetaxel [Internet]. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; [cited 2017 Jun 12]. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/esuom50/chapter/key-points-from-the-evidence?unlid=3114971442016102804430
- 215. Rodriguez-Vida A, Chowdhury S, Chowdhury S. Management of fatigue and anaemia in men treated with androgen deprivation therapy. Trends Urol Mens Health. 2014 May 1;5(3):25–8.
- 216. Irani J, Salomon L, Oba R, Bouchard P, Mottet N. Efficacy of venlafaxine, medroxyprogesterone acetate, and cyproterone acetate for the treatment of vasomotor hot flushes in men taking gonadotropin-releasing hormone analogues for prostate cancer: a double-blind, randomised trial. Lancet Oncol. 2010 Feb;11(2):147–54.
- 217. Karling P, Hammar M, Varenhorst E. Prevalence and duration of hot flushes after surgical or medical castration in men with prostatic carcinoma. J Urol. 1994 Oct;152(4):1170–3.
- 218. Loblaw DA, Virgo KS, Nam R, Somerfield MR, Ben-Josef E, Mendelson DS, et al. Initial Hormonal Management of Androgen-Sensitive Metastatic, Recurrent, or Progressive Prostate Cancer: 2007 Update of an American Society of Clinical Oncology Practice Guideline. J Clin Oncol. 2007 Apr 20;25(12):1596–605.
- 219. Black cohosh and liver injury [Internet]. Medicines and Health products Regulatory Agency. 2006 [cited 2017 May 22]. Available from: http://www.mhra.gov.uk/safety-public-assessment-reports/CON079273
- 220. Lee MS, Kim K-H, Shin B-C, Choi S-M, Ernst E. Acupuncture for treating hot flushes in men with prostate cancer: a systematic review. Support Care Cancer Off J Multinatl Assoc Support Care Cancer. 2009 Jul;17(7):763–70.
- 221. Iversen P, Karup C, van der Meulen E, Tankó LB, Huhtaniemi I. Hot flushes in prostatic cancer patients during androgen-deprivation therapy with monthly dose of degarelix or leuprolide. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis. 2011 Jun;14(2):184–90.
- 222. Yousaf O, Stefanopoulou E, Grunfeld EA, Hunter MS. A randomised controlled trial of a cognitive behavioural intervention for men who have hot flushes following prostate cancer treatment (MANCAN): trial protocol. BMC Cancer. 2012;12:230.

- 223. Kunath F, Grobe HR, Rücker G, Motschall E, Antes G, Dahm P, et al. Non-steroidal antiandrogen monotherapy compared with luteinising hormone-releasing hormone agonists or surgical castration monotherapy for advanced prostate cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014 Jun 30;(6):CD009266.
- 224. Lorenzo GD, Autorino R, Perdonà S, Placido SD. Management of gynaecomastia in patients with prostate cancer: a systematic review. Lancet Oncol. 2005 Dec 1;6(12):972–9.
- 225. Breast reduction (male) [Internet]. NHS Choices. 2016 [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/cosmetic-treatments-guide/Pages/breast-reduction-male.aspx
- 226. Storey DJ, McLaren DB, Atkinson MA, Butcher I, Frew LC, Smyth JF, et al. Clinically relevant fatigue in men with hormone-sensitive prostate cancer on long-term androgen deprivation therapy. Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol. 2012 Jun;23(6):1542–9.
- 227. Gardner JR, Livingston PM, Fraser SF. Effects of exercise on treatment-related adverse effects for patients with prostate cancer receiving androgen-deprivation therapy: a systematic review. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2014 Feb 1;32(4):335–46.
- 228. Haseen F, Murray LJ, Cardwell CR, O'Sullivan JM, Cantwell MM. The effect of androgen deprivation therapy on body composition in men with prostate cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cancer Surviv Res Pract. 2010 Jun;4(2):128–39.
- 229. Jamadar RJ, Winters MJ, Maki PM. Cognitive changes associated with ADT: a review of the literature. Asian J Androl. 2012 Mar;14(2):232–8.
- 230. Nelson CJ, Lee JS, Gamboa MC, Roth AJ. Cognitive effects of hormone therapy in men with prostate cancer: a review. Cancer. 2008 Sep 1;113(5):1097–106.
- 231. McGinty HL, Phillips KM, Jim HSL, Cessna JM, Asvat Y, Cases MG, et al. Cognitive functioning in men receiving androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Support Care Cancer Off J Multinatl Assoc Support Care Cancer. 2014 Aug;22(8):2271–80.
- 232. Lee CE, Kilgour A, Lau YJ. Efficacy of walking exercise in promoting cognitive-psychosocial functions in men with prostate cancer receiving androgen deprivation therapy. BMC Cancer. 2012;12:324.
- 233. Wilson S, Sharp CA, Davie MWJ. Health-related quality of life in patients with osteoporosis in the absence of vertebral fracture: a systematic review. Osteoporos Int J Establ Result Coop Eur Found Osteoporos Natl Osteoporos Found USA. 2012 Dec;23(12):2749–68.
- 234. Alibhai SMH, Gogov S, Allibhai Z. Long-term side effects of androgen deprivation therapy in men with non-metastatic prostate cancer: a systematic literature review. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2006 Dec;60(3):201–15.

- 235. Eastham JA. Bone health in men receiving androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer. J Urol. 2007 Jan;177(1):17–24.
- 236. Osteoporosis [Internet]. Patient. 2015 [cited 2017 Jun 12]. Available from: https://patient.info/doctor/osteoporosis-pro
- 237. Osteoporosis: assessing the risk of fragility fracture [Internet]. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2017 [cited 2017 May 22]. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg146/chapter/1-Guidance
- 238. Body JJ, Terpos E, Tombal B, Hadji P, Arif A, Young A, et al. Bone health in the elderly cancer patient: A SIOG position paper. Cancer Treat Rev. 2016 Dec;51:46–53.
- 239. Grossmann M, Hamilton EJ, Gilfillan C, Bolton D, Joon DL, Zajac JD. Bone and metabolic health in patients with non-metastatic prostate cancer who are receiving androgen deprivation therapy. Med J Aust. 2011 Mar 21;194(6):301–6.
- 240. Planas J, Morote J, Orsola A, Salvador C, Trilla E, Cecchini L, et al. The relationship between daily calcium intake and bone mineral density in men with prostate cancer. BJU Int. 2007 Apr;99(4):812-815; discussion 815-816.
- 241. Owen PJ, Daly RM, Livingston PM, Fraser SF. Lifestyle guidelines for managing adverse effects on bone health and body composition in men treated with androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer: an update. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis. 2017 Jun;20(2):137–45.
- 242. Droz J-P, Albrand G, Gillessen S, Hughes S, Mottet N, Oudard S, et al. Management of Prostate Cancer in Elderly Patients: Recommendations of a Task Force of the International Society of Geriatric Oncology. Eur Urol. 2017 Jan 11;
- 243. Drudge-Coates L. Bone health: the effect of androgen deprivation therapy in prostate cancer patients. Int J Urol Nurs. 2007 Mar 1;1(1):18–26.
- 244. Lipton A. Implications of Bone Metastases and the Benefits of Bone-Targeted Therapy. Semin Oncol. 2010 Oct 1;37:S15–29.
- 245. Berruti A, Tucci M, Mosca A, Tarabuzzi R, Gorzegno G, Terrone C, et al. Predictive factors for skeletal complications in hormone-refractory prostate cancer patients with metastatic bone disease. Br J Cancer. 2005 Sep 19;93(6):633–8.
- 246. Heidenreich A, Bastian PJ, Bellmunt J, Bolla M, Joniau S, van der Kwast T, et al. EAU Guidelines on Prostate Cancer. Part II: Treatment of Advanced, Relapsing, and Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. Eur Urol. 2014 Feb;65(2):467–79.
- 247. Kane CM, Hoskin P, Bennett MI. Cancer induced bone pain. BMJ. 2015 Jan 29;350:h315.
- 248. Weinfurt KP, Li Y, Castel LD, Saad F, Timbie JW, Glendenning GA, et al. The significance of skeletal-related events for the health-related quality of life of patients with metastatic prostate cancer. Ann Oncol. 2005 Apr 1;16(4):579–84.

- 249. Davies A, Buchanan A, Zeppetella G, Porta-Sales J, Likar R, Weismayr W, et al. Breakthrough cancer pain: an observational study of 1000 European oncology patients. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2013 Nov;46(5):619–28.
- 250. Posternak V, Dunn LB, Dhruva A, Paul SM, Luce J, Mastick J, et al. Differences in demographic, clinical, and symptom characteristics and quality of life outcomes among oncology patients with different types of pain. Pain. 2016 Apr;157(4):892–900.
- 251. James ND, Bloomfield D, Luscombe C. The changing pattern of management for hormone-refractory, metastatic prostate cancer. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis. 2006 Jun 27;9(3):221–9.
- 252. Westhoff PG, de Graeff A, Monninkhof EM, Pomp J, van Vulpen M, Leer JWH, et al. Quality of Life in Relation to Pain Response to Radiation Therapy for Painful Bone Metastases. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015 Nov 1;93(3):694–701.
- 253. Lutz S, Berk L, Chang E, Chow E, Hahn C, Hoskin P, et al. Palliative radiotherapy for bone metastases: an ASTRO evidence-based guideline. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011 Mar 15;79(4):965–76.
- 254. Radium-223 dichloride for treating hormone-relapsed prostate cancer with bone metastases [Internet]. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2016 [cited 2017 May 23]. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta412
- 255. Attar S, Steffner RJ, Avedian R, Hussain WM. Surgical intervention of nonvertebral osseous metastasis. Cancer Control J Moffitt Cancer Cent. 2012 Apr;19(2):113–21.
- 256. Percutaneous cementoplasty for palliative treatment of bony malignancies [Internet]. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2006 [cited 2017 May 23]. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ipg179
- 257. Percutaneous vertebroplasty [Internet]. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2003 [cited 2017 Jun 12]. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ipg12
- 258. Thompson JC, Wood J, Feuer D. Prostate cancer: palliative care and pain relief. Br Med Bull. 2007 Sep 1;83(1):341–54.
- 259. WHO's cancer pain ladder for adults [Internet]. WHO. [cited 2017 May 23]. Available from: http://www.who.int/cancer/palliative/painladder/en/
- 260. Hurlow A, Bennett MI, Robb KA, Johnson MI, Simpson KH, Oxberry SG. Transcutaneous electric nerve stimulation (TENS) for cancer pain in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012 Mar 14;(3):CD006276.
- 261. Loh J, Gulati A. The use of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) in a major cancer center for the treatment of severe cancer-related pain and associated disability. Pain Med Malden Mass. 2015 Jun;16(6):1204–10.
- 262. Cancer Pain Management [Internet]. The British Pain Society; 2010 Jan [cited 2017 Jun 12]. Available from: https://www.britishpainsociety.org/static/uploads/resources/files/book_cancer_pain.pdf

- 263. Prostate cancer survival statistics [Internet]. Cancer Research UK. 2017 [cited 2017 May 30]. Available from: http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/statistics-by-cancer-type/prostate-cancer/survival
- 264. Carter N, Bryant-Lukosius D, DiCenso A, Blythe J, Neville AJ. The supportive care needs of men with advanced prostate cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum. 2011 Mar;38(2):189–98.
- 265. Paterson C, Kata SG, Nandwani G, Das Chaudhury D, Nabi G. Unmet Supportive Care Needs of Men With Locally Advanced and Metastatic Prostate Cancer on Hormonal Treatment: A Mixed Methods Study. Cancer Nurs. 2017 Apr 4;
- 266. Bloch S, Love A, Macvean M, Duchesne G, Couper J, Kissane D. Psychological adjustment of men with prostate cancer: a review of the literature. Biopsychosoc Med. 2007 Jan 10;1:2.
- 267. Todd M. Understanding lymphoedema in advanced disease in a palliative care setting. Int J Palliat Nurs. 2009 Oct;15(10):474, 476–80.
- 268. Shaitelman SF, Cromwell KD, Rasmussen JC, Stout NL, Armer JM, Lasinski BB, et al. Recent Progress in Cancer-Related Lymphedema Treatment and Prevention. CA Cancer J Clin. 2015;65(1):55–81.
- 269. Cormier JN, Askew RL, Mungovan KS, Xing Y, Ross MI, Armer JM. Lymphedema beyond breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cancer-related secondary lymphedema. Cancer. 2010 Nov 15;116(22):5138–49.
- 270. Cosgriff N, Gordon S. Cancer-related lymphoedema in males: a literature review. J Lymphoedema. 2010;5:49–61.
- 271. What can I do to help my patient? [Internet]. The Lymphoedema Support Network. n.d. [cited 2017 May 30]. Available from: http://lymphoedema.org/index.php/information-for-health-care-professionals/what-can-i-do-to-help-my-patient
- 272. Clarke NW. Management of the spectrum of hormone refractory prostate cancer. Eur Urol. 2006 Sep;50(3):428-438; discussion 438-439.
- 273. Lasinski BB, McKillip Thrift K, Squire D, Austin MK, Smith KM, Wanchai A, et al. A systematic review of the evidence for complete decongestive therapy in the treatment of lymphedema from 2004 to 2011. PM R. 2012 Aug;4(8):580–601.
- 274. Mottet N, Bellmunt J, Bolla M, Briers E, Cumberbatch MG, Santis MD, et al. EAU-ESTRO-SIOG Guidelines on Prostate Cancer. Part 1: Screening, Diagnosis, and Local Treatment with Curative Intent. Eur Urol. 2017 Apr 1;71(4):618–29.
- 275. Nalesnik JG, Mysliwiec AG, Canby-Hagino E. Anemia in Men with Advanced Prostate Cancer: Incidence, Etiology, and Treatment. Rev Urol. 2004;6(1):1–4.
- 276. Tucci M, Mosca A, Lamanna G, Porpiglia F, Terzolo M, Vana F, et al. Prognostic significance of disordered calcium metabolism in hormone-refractory prostate cancer

- patients with metastatic bone disease. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis. 2008 Mar 11;12(1):94–9.
- 277. Hypercalcaemia Clinical Knowledge Summaries [Internet]. National Institute for Health and Excellence in Care. 2014 [cited 2017 Jun 12]. Available from: https://cks.nice.org.uk/hypercalcaemia
- 278. Walji N, Chan AK, Peake DR. Common acute oncological emergencies: diagnosis, investigation and management. Postgrad Med J. 2008 Aug;84(994):418–27.
- 279. Arends J, Bachmann P, Baracos V, Barthelemy N, Bertz H, Bozzetti F, et al. ESPEN guidelines on nutrition in cancer patients. Clin Nutr. 2017 Feb 1;36(1):11–48.
- 280. Blanc-Bisson C, Fonck M, Rainfray M, Soubeyran P, Bourdel-Marchasson I. Undernutrition in elderly patients with cancer: target for diagnosis and intervention. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2008 Sep;67(3):243–54.
- 281. Dorff TB, Crawford ED. Management and challenges of corticosteroid therapy in men with metastatic castrate-resistant prostate cancer. Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol. 2013 Jan;24(1):31–8.
- 282. Berkey FJ. Managing the adverse effects of radiation therapy. Am Fam Physician. 2010 Aug 15;82(4):381–8, 394.
- 283. Bubendorf L, Schöpfer A, Wagner U, Sauter G, Moch H, Willi N, et al. Metastatic patterns of prostate cancer: an autopsy study of 1,589 patients. Hum Pathol. 2000 May;31(5):578–83.
- 284. Friedlander JI, Duty BD, Okeke Z, Smith AD. Obstructive uropathy from locally advanced and metastatic prostate cancer: an old problem with new therapies. J Endourol. 2012 Feb;26(2):102–9.
- 285. Difficult conversations with dying people and their families [Internet]. Marie Curie Cancer Care; 2014 [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/globalassets/archive/www2/pdf/Difficult-Conversations_report.PDF
- 286. What we know now National End of Life Care Intelligence Network [Internet]. Public Health England; 2014. Available from: http://www.endoflifecare-intelligence.org.uk/resources/publications/what_we_know_now_2014
- 287. Why plan ahead End of life care guide NHS Choices [Internet]. NHS Choices. 2014. Available from: http://www.nhs.uk/Planners/end-of-life-care/Pages/why-plan-ahead.aspx
- 288. Levy A, Cartwright T. Men's strategies for preserving emotional well-being in advanced prostate cancer: An interpretative phenomenological analysis. Psychol Health. 2015;30(10):1164–82.